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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Smart Digital Technology Group Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | present herewith
to the shareholders of the Group the annual report and
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

RESULTS OF THE YEAR

In recent years, the media business of the world is gradually
rebounding from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic which
has spread all over the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes
of the Writers Guild of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA
in 2023. Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt
of income of TV drama and fiim investments of the Company
significantly and negatively affected the operating results
regarding these investments, which has been reducing the
amount of revenue recognized for a few years. The slow-down
of business activities and postponement of some of the film and
TV drama projects developed by the Group in prior years have
impacted on the financial results of the Group.

Revenue and gross profit from its media and culture business
for the year of 2024 was approximately HK$40.4 million and
HK$40.4 million respectively (2023: revenue of approximately
HK$80.3 million and gross profit of approximately HK$15.1
million).

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$28.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$45.7 million).

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
28.89 HK$ cents (2023: approximately 55.51 HK$ cents). Net
deficit of the Group were approximately HK$382.0 million (2023:
approximately HK$378.3 million).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement
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FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Up to the date of this report, the economic downturn and the
negative prolonged impact of COVID-19 epidemic will be a
mid-to long term issue. The world is gradually rebounding from
the impact and the management reasonably foresee that the
business activities of the media and culture business of the
Group would resume to a normal level in the long term.

In addition, the strikes of the Writers Guild of America and
Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023 has adversely affected the
development, production and distribution of feature films and TV
and streaming TV programming in the USA.

However, as it takes time for the entire business cycle of the
Group to get back on track, it is probable that these negative
impacts may continue to be reflected in the financial results of
the Group in the coming year(s).

The Company plans to utilize its existing Hollywood intellectual
property resources to develop metaverse businesses, advance
its digital product platform construction, and establish
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China to expand cross
border e-commerce operations.

On 4 January 2024, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement’) with Greenland Digital Technology
Co., Ltd (“Greenland Digital”), being a global leader in
providing strategic digital advices and apply digital technology to
improve business operation, pursuant to which the Company as
a partner, is entitled to improve the development on metaverse
business, advance its digital product platform construction
and expand crossborder e-commerce operations and these
businesses are expected to commence in or around 2025.

The Directors are of the view that the entering of the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement enables the Group and
Greenland Digital to use the resources of both parties to operate
and be more involved in digital platform in metaverse, digital
product and virtual reality technology. As such, the Directors
believe that the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
could, on one hand, complement the business of the Group
and, on the other hand, expand the client base of the Group.
Accordingly, it will broaden the Group’s revenue base in the
future and is expected to increase investment returns to the
Shareholders of the Company.
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On 10 December 2024, the Group entered into another
strategic cooperation framework agreement (the “Cooperation
Agreement”’) with a company incorporated in PRC, being a
high-tech enterprise in developing energy storage systems by
using artificial intelligence, operating and monitoring battery
management systems and developing new energy storage
technology. Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Group
as a partner, is entitled to expand the business on developing
new energy and renewable energy and the research and
development of new energy storage technologies used in the
industrial and commercial contexts. The business is expected to
commence in or around 2025.

The Directors are of the view that the entering of the
Cooperation Agreement enables the Group to diversify its
business in new energy and energy storage technology. As such,
the Directors believe that the Cooperation Agreement could, on
one hand, complement the business of the Group and, on the
other hand, expand the client base of the Group. Accordingly,
it will broaden the Group’s revenue base in the future and is
expected to increase investment returns to the shareholders of
the Company.

With an aim to turnaround from the making of loss and
safeguard returns to the shareholders of the Company, the
Group is in the process of reviewing the future prospect and
development of its other business segments, and at the same
time exploring new business opportunities and making more
efforts to explore market opportunities in Mainland China.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all the employees of the Group
for their dedication. | would also like to thank our shareholders,
suppliers, bankers and customers for their continuous support.

Mr. Sang Kanggiao
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEEFwmA D

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

In recent years, the media business of the world is gradually
rebounding from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic which
has spread all over the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes
of the Writers Guild of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA
in 2023. Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt
of income of TV drama and film investments of the Company
significantly and negatively affected the operating results
regarding these investments, which has been reducing the
amount of revenue recognized for a few years. The slow-down
of business activities and postponement of some of the film and
TV drama projects developed by the Group in prior years have
impacted on the financial results of the Group.

Revenue and gross profit from its media and culture business
for the year of 2024 was approximately HK$40.4 million and
HK$40.4 million respectively (2023: revenue of approximately
HK$80.3 million and gross profit of approximately HK$15.1
million).

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$28.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$45.7 million).

Media and Culture

The Group’s movies and TV drama series products and
investments, projects incubated by film directors and related
prepayments amounted to approximately HK$289.7 million as at
31 December 2024, and the followings are some highlights:

Media investments and products

Crazy Rich Asians

The movie was invested and released by Warner Bros. Pictures,
co-invested by the Group and directed by director Jon M. Chu
(who has entered into an agreement with the Group), and was
released in August 2018. The film was adapted from a best-
selling novel written by Kevin Kwan under the same title, which
has a solid reader base. The movie stars Constance Wu, Henry
Golding, Michelle Yeoh, and etc. The highly anticipated movie is
the first major film that is not a period piece in Hollywood in two
and a half decades to feature an all ethnically Asian cast. As the
first adapted work of the novel series, there is also expectation
for it to develop into commercially successful film series where
the stories of the two sequels mainly take place in China. To
date, according to Box Office Mojo, its worldwide gross is
US$238,532,921.
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Greta

The thriller/crime movie is directed by Neil Jordan who won
the Academy Award for Best Original Screenplay and starring
French actress Isabelle Huppert who has been nominated for
the Academy Award for Best Actress. The international sales of
the movie are undertaken by veteran sales agency Sierra/Affinity.
To date, international sales are anticipated to be US$9.5 million.
The movie premiered at the Toronto International Film Festival in
September 2018 and was released in March 2019.

Midway

The Group arranged the investment in the epic drama movie,
directed by the well-known director Roland Emmerich (who
has entered into an agreement with the Group), produced by
Mark Gordon and starring Woody Harrelson, Mandy Moore
and Luke Evans. It started principal photography in 2018 and
was released on 8 November 2019. The movie is also the first
World War Il film of Roland Emmerich. It is adapted from the true
stories of the Battle of Midway and tells rarely known stories of
war heroes. The total budget is approximately US$100 million. In
terms of distribution, Summit Entertainment, LLC is responsible
for the U.S., Bona Film Group is responsible for the Greater
China area and Accelerate Global Content, LLC is responsible
for overseas sales. The Deadline Magazine has provided
extensive coverage in this regard and the commentary described
the movie as “one of the biggest movies on-sale at Cannes”.
During the pre-sales period, excluding the Greater China area,
overseas pre-sales has exceeded US$30 million.

The movie topped the North American box office only in its
opening week. According to Box Office Mojo, its worldwide
gross amounted to US$126,696,475. In addition, the movie also
enjoyed positive buzz among audiences since releasing, with
being scored by up to 92% of audiences (Audience Score) on
Rotten Tomatoes, a professional film critics website.
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BEEwmR D

Scary Stories to Tell in the Dark

The movie is distributed in US by Lionsgate, co-financed
by CBS Films, eOne, the Group and Rolling Hills and was
released in August 2019. The film is adapted from a bestselling
series of short horror stories, written by Alvin Schwartz under
the same title. It is directed by André Qvredal, produced by
Academy Award Winner Guillermo del Toro, written by Dan
Hageman, Kevin Hageman, and Guillermo del Toro. Starring Zoe
Margaret Colletti, Michael Garza, Gabriel Rush, etc., the movie’s
international distributor is Entertainment One and Sierra/Affinity
is the foreign sales agency of the picture. Produced for US$25
million, the movie earned US$21 million at the domestic box
office in its opening weekend. To date, according to Box Office
Mojo, its worldwide gross is US$104,545,505.

Malignant

Malignant is a 2021 American horror film directed by James Wan
from a screenplay by Akela Cooper, based on a story by Wan,
Ingrid Bisu, and Cooper. The film stars Annabelle Wallis as a
woman who begins to have visions of people being murdered,
only to realize the events are happening in real life. Maddie
Hasson, George Young, Michole Briana White, and Jacqueline
McKenzie also star. Malignant was theatrically released in the
United States on September 10, 2021, by Warner Bros. Pictures
simultaneously streamed on HBO Max for one month. It is
streaming on YouTube, Apple TV, Google Play Movies & TV,
Vudu, Amazon Prime Video, YouTube TV and Hulu now.

Posted to his Twitter handle, Stephen King, the legendary
horror author praises Wan'’s Malignant. In one short sentence,
King sums up his feelings, saying, “/ watched MALIGNANT on
HBO and thought it was brilliant.” King’s tweet already has over
2,461 retweets and 33,000 likes. While critics and fans seem
mixed over Wan'’s new horror movie, King sincerely feels the film
is brilliant. Given King's expertise in all things horror, receiving
praise from the author must feel like a high honor. For many fans
who have yet to see Malignant, King’s high praise is sure to peak
their interest.
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Malignant was released to high reviews and good word of
mouth. David Stratton from The Australian mentioned that “Wan
cheerfully draws on the extreme work of horror film aficionados
such as David Cronenberg and Dario Argento as he piles on the
bloody violence.” Becca James from Chicago Reader mentioned
that “Malignant is the type of movie that requires viewers to
strap in and shut up from the onset.” A.A. Dowd from AV Club
mentioned that “There’s no way to watch this deranged follow-
up and not conclude that Wan’s back where he belongs.” Alison
Shoemaker from Fox 10 Phoenix mentioned that “Wan’s final
twist is so maniacal and so (and this is a compliment) deeply
and thoroughly stupid that it more than makes up for the minor
missteps along the way.” Perri Nemiroff from YouTube mentioned
that “James Wan swings for the fences and it pays off big time.
Malignant is a bonkers and bloody delight that showcases a
multitude of different skills and styles Wan’s honed through his
horror fims over the years.” The IMDb rating of Malignant is
6.3/10. And, the Tomatometer of Malignant reaches 76%.

Malignant won the ReFrame Stamp for Best Feature at ReFrame
2022. It was also nominated for 1) BloodGuts UK Horror Awards
at BloodGuts UK Horror Awards 2022 2) Best CCA Super
Awards at Critics Choice Super Awards 2022 3) Dorian Award
at GALECA: The Society of LGBTQ Entertainment Critics 2022
4) HFCS Award at Hawaii Film Critics Society 2022 5) HCA
Award at Hollywood Critics Association 2022 6) HCA Awards
At Hollywood Critics Association 2021 7) INOCA at International
Online Cinema Awards (INOCA) 2022 8) MCFCA Award at the
Music City Film Critics’ Association Awards 2022 9) PCC Award
at the Phoenix Critics Circle 2021 10) PCA Award at the Portland
Critics Association Awards 2021.
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IMDb48 £ 95T 4% %46.3/10 > FETomatometerf9 47 575
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(P RFE) EReFrameZ_E__F LHET
ReFrame Stamp for Best Featuree E7RNER T LR
124 1) BloodGuts UK Horror Awards — & — — & H
BloodGuts UK Horror Awards; 2) Critics Choice Super
Awards —“E - ZHF P EEF m R EZEERE ;
3) GALECA: The Society of LGBTQ Entertainment
Critics Z& — — F B M ; 4) Hawaii Film Critics
Society _ E_"FHEREETARMTE ; 5)
Hollywood Critics Association— & — — £ B 47 5K iR
ST AHEEE ; 6) Hollywood Critics Association — =
Z—EFENFRIBE T ABEE ; 7)international Onllne
Cinema Awards (INOCA)Z %~ — F M BB 1T 4
2% ; 8) Music City Film Critics’ Association Awards
TECIFNZMIEEFABEE ; 9) Phoenix
Critics Circle _E_—FMNE R m#isTmin g% ; 10)
Portland Critics Assomahon Awards — &~ —FEHK
REETADE
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Marshall

The movie was obtained by the Group through acquisition.
It is internationally distributed by Sony Pictures Worldwide
Acquisitions Inc., and distributed by Open Road Films, LLC
in North America. The movie is produced by Paula Wagner,
an experienced Hollywood producer, and starring Chadwick
Boseman, the leading actor of “Black Panther”, and Sterling
K. Brown, an Emmy Award winner and the leading actor of
“This Is Us”. The movie was nominated for Oscar Best Original
Song (theme song: Stand Up For Something) and received Top
Ten Films of African American Film Critics Association Awards,
Audience Choice Award of Chicago International Film Festival,
Annual Song Award of Hollywood Film Awards, Best Original
Song Award of Annual Satellite Awards as well as 18 other
internationally renowned awards nominations.

Umma

‘Umma” is a film that stands out for its fusion of horror with
a poetic and lyrical representation of Asian culture. The film
was distributed by Sony Pictures on March 15, 2022. It was
produced by the renowned horror maestro Sam Raimi, who is
known for his work on the “Spider-Man” series and “The Evil
Dead” series. The director and writer of the film, Iris K. Shim,
had previously been acclaimed for her documentary “The House
of Suh,” which won six awards. The lead role in “Umma” was
played by the talented Sandra Oh, who was celebrated as
the first Asian actress to win a Golden Globe in 40 years. Her
collaboration with Sam Raimi and Iris K. Shim brought a fresh
and innovative perspective to Hollywood horror. It garnered
interest from major studios and was praised for its unique
blend of horror with an intimate portrayal of East Asian culture.
With the backing of Sony Pictures, “Umma” made a significant
impact in the film industry upon its release in 2022 and won the
ReFrame Stamp award.

My Robot Boyfriend

My Robot Boyfriend, an urban love sci-fi comedy directed by Lai
Chun Tsang and starring Chao Jiang and Xiaotong Mao, which
has been firstly broadcasted on Zhejiang Satellite TV on 21
October 2019 with concurrently releasing on Tencent Video and
Mango TV.
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PROJECTS INCUBATING BY FILM
DIRECTORS

With the commitment in further diversifying and enhancing
the entertainment business of the Group so as to broaden the
income sources, the Group has engaged 8 film directors.

James Wan, Roland Emmerich, Jon M. Chu, Robert Zemeckis,
Alan Taylor, Jonathan Liebesman, F. Gary Gray, Sylvester
Stallone, Nattawut Poonpiriya and Sam Raimi in relation to the
development and production of motion picture projects, which
enable the Group to tap into the business of film production
and distribution. Reference may be made to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2020 for details of the profile
of some of the projects under development. With respect
to those projects that have not been completed prior to the
terminations or expirations of the development agreements, the
Company and those directors will continue to collaborate on the
development of those projects.

Under the agreements, the Group has developed 44 feature
projects, 38 among which have developed completed scripts.

Here are the projects developed under Development/Production

B mR I
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RBIOINE—TZTEREAREBREZETLUE
TEWAZRR > AEECEFSUBFER -

KREEEMMAZEXEFEFBEERS R F(-(James
Wan)~ 2258 o 3 248 & (Roland Emmerich) s sRI& &
(Jon M. Chu)~ ZE{BHF e 2K & Hi(Robert Zemeckis) *
X f o ZEH(Alan Taylor) ~ B #Fx « 12 B T £ (Jonathan
Liebesman)~FAINE o #8FE(F. Gary Gray)~ FAE#EHT
1% o 2 ZRBE(Sylvester Stallone) s IEE o 57 4T
(Nattawut Poonpiriya) 5z LLI 18 e Z& 3K (Sam Raimi) > L%
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BEENH RS F2RAABAEHEAZS ISR
ATt HZRAS HERERERER ETEmA]
HASHRHNEEMES A AT EHZEEEREES
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Financing Agreements:

James Wan (9)

EF1(9)

Jon M. Chu (6)

aR(6)

Sam Raimi (7)

LI o EEK(7)
Nattawut Poonpiriya (2)
MIBE e L ARER(2)

Robert Zemeckis (2)
R « ERKTHQ)

Malignant, Sentinel, Alien Santa, Golden, Roswell, The Magnificent Theater of
Enchanted Puppet, The Call of Cthulhu, Mass Extinction, Border Patrol

(B #n ELFED ~ Sentinel ~ Alien Santa~ Golden ~ (ZEET 4 0) ~ (ZERERIHE R E LA B
(FREF BRI ~ CRRAB ) ~ (B IR IKE)

Here and Now and Then, The Godfather, Sophia of Silicon Valley, Human Error, Cul-
De-Sac, Project Human

Here and Now and Then» (X
&) ~ Project Human

)~ Sophia of Silicon Valley ~ Human Error~ (#5585

The Procession, Untitled Rob Savage Project, Bedtime Story, Umma, Sword of the
Dead, Smooth Stones and Empty Bones, Little Snake
The Procession » Untitled Rob Savage Project » Bedtime Story ~ {&#3 ) » Sword of the
Dead ~ Smooth Stones and Empty Bones  Little Snake

The Innkeeper, Homelands
The Innkeeper » Homelands

The Prisoner in His Palace, Empress Wu
The Prisoner in His Palace s (% 2 & 8IX )
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Alan Taylor (2)
Lt o Z=20(2)

Roland Emmerich (2) Dreamland, Emergence

#R o UEES () ()~ LD
Jonathan Liebesman (1) Scorpion
SinF e EEH=(1) (/e

Sylvester Stallone (10)

Gold Mountain, Stone Junction
Gold Mountain ~ Stone Junction

Tier 1, Scavenger Hunt, Bellhop, Arcane, Dark Waters, Hunter, The Line that Held Us,

Perfect Horse, Ghost, Safecracker

FERRAE AT o £BE(10)

Tier 1~ Scavenger Hunt ~ Bellhop ~ {

TEfERARE S > B ) ~ Dark Waters ~ Hunter ~ The

Line that Held Us ~ Perfect Horse ~ Ghost * Safecracker

F Gary Gray (3)
FANE « i EG) C
Meanwhile, the Group has jointly developed 12 projects with
A-list talents through collaboration, including: The Burden, GMO,
Hunting Season, The Troop, The Devil Came to Saint Louis, The
Monkey, The Fortunate Sons, The Pigeon, In the Shadow of the
Mountain, Down Range, and RIP.

For these projects, the Group will take a diversified project
structuring approach, including Films suitable for streaming
platforms will be redirected towards them, which allows for
relatively quick cost recovery, name recognition, increased
exposure, and visibility through the widespread coverage
of streaming platforms. Additionally, we will explore various
channels for financing, such as international sales, tax
refunds, minimum guarantees in North America, and derivative
applications in the metaverse (NFT/digital collectible releases,
metaverse construction, blockchain games), converting a portion
of the budget allocated for visual effects into investments. By
retaining the copyright, we aim to establish a new ecosystem.

The Group will be able to generate revenue from these projects
and IPs through the following ways: recouping development
costs plus a profit; getting producers fees and backend,
investment payback, online distribution, theatrical releases, IP
licensing, merchandising, web3 and metaverse monetization.

Media and culture operating results
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue
generated from media and culture business amounted to
approximately HK$40.4 million (2023: approximately HK$80.3
million), with a gross profit of approximately HK$40.4 million
(2023: approximately HK$15.1 million).

Saints Row, Untitled Golf Action Comedy, Echo
24E ) ~ Untitled Golf Action Comedy ~ Echo

FAE AEEEBBEFE—GREEHRRF12E
158 » 8#EThe Burden~ GMO ~ Hunting Season~The
Troop * The Devil Came to Saint Louis ~ The Monkey ~
The Fortunate Sons*The Pigeon*In the Shadow of
the Mountain ~ Down Range&%RIP °

ZEEERENZ TIENIEERES QDL:./M
ERTANEERKERRERTFEET BENE
BT AR EZIRE > Bl &R R UK Bl p A ~ R T IHE
M BMBAERAMAE ILIh B RERSER
BRE SUEBRHEHE - ERR - IEEMEREERK
ﬁ?&ﬁﬁ’]ﬁiﬂ’g% (NFT/#FERET -TFEHE

CBIREHEE) FOROEERERNRNBLEE
%Tb?\%&ﬁ KMREBE SEEIL—BEHNER
EN

FERREBUTHAAERFRERIPEEWE !
WOl B AR ; R R A E LU KRR IRER
BB LEET ERETIPEE -BRIEE  web3

RITFEER
BRRXCREES

BE T MF+_A=+—HLFE x&EEN
BRERXEEBELERTLN40488B T (CE2 =
F 1 K80.3EF BT » BEFMW404B8EEB T (C°F
“=F 15188 ET) °
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In recent years, the media business of the world is gradually
rebounding from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic which
has spread all over the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes
of the Writers Guild of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA
in 2023. Business activities slowed down and some of the film
and TV drama projects being developed by the Group have been
postponed. Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt
of income of TV drama and film investments of the Company
significantly and negatively affected the future cash flow
projections regarding these investments, which in turn reduced
the amount of revenue recognized during recent years.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$28.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$45.7 million).

The Board considers that while the Group recorded an increase
in gross profit and a reduction in net loss in the year of 2024
compared to the year of 2023, the slow-down of business
activities and postponement of some of the film and TV drama
projects being developed by the Group in recent years due to
the prolonged impact of COVID-19 and strikes of the Writers
Guild of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA continued to
affect the financial results of the Group during the year.

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
28.89 HK$ cents (2023: approximately 55.51 HK$ cents). Net
deficit of the Group were approximately HK$382.0 million (2023:
approximately HK$378.3 million).

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Up to the date of this report, the economic downturn and the
negative prolonged impact of COVID-19 epidemic will be a
mid-to long term issue. The world is gradually rebounding from
the impact and the management reasonably foreseen that the
business activities of the media and culture business of the
Group would resume to a normal level in the long term.

In addition, the strikes of the Writers Guild of America and
Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023 has adversely affected the
development, production and distribution of feature films and TV
and streaming TV programming in the USA.
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However, as it takes time for the entire business cycle of the
Group to get back on track, it is probable that these negative
impacts may continue to be reflected in the financial results of
Group in the coming year(s).

The Company plans to utilize its existing Hollywood intellectual
property resources to develop metaverse businesses, advance
its digital product platform construction, and establish
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China to expand cross
border e-commerce operations.

On 4 January 2024, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement”) with Greenland Digital Technology
Co., Ltd (“Greenland Digital”), being a global leader in
providing strategic digital advices and apply digital technology to
improve business operation, pursuant to which the Company as
a partner, is entitled to improve the development on metaverse
business, advance its digital product platform construction
and expand crossborder e-commerce operations and these
businesses are business expected to commence in or around
2025.

The Directors are of the view that the entering of the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement enables the Group and
Greenland Digital to use the resources of both parties to operate
and be more involved in digital platform in metaverse, digital
product and virtual reality technology. As such, the Directors
believe that the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
could, on one hand, complement the business of the Group
and, on the other hand, expand the client base of the Group.
Accordingly, it will broaden the Group’s revenue base in the
future and is expected to increase investment returns to the
shareholders of the Company.

On 10 December 2024, the Group entered into another
strategic cooperation framework agreement (the “Cooperation
Agreement”’) with a company incorporated in PRC, being a
high-tech enterprise in developing energy storage systems by
using artificial intelligence, operating and monitoring battery
management systems and developing new energy storage
technology. Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Group
as a partner, is entitled to expand the business on developing
new energy and renewable energy and the research and
development of new energy storage technologies used in the
industrial and commercial contexts. The business is expected to
commence in or around 2025.
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The Directors are of the view that the entering of the
Cooperation Agreement enables the Group to diversify its
business in new energy and energy storage technology. As such,
the Directors believe that the Cooperation Agreement could, on
one hand, complement the business of the Group and, on the
other hand, expand the client base of the Group. Accordingly,
it will broaden the Group’s revenue base in the future and is
expected to increase investment returns to the shareholders of
the Company.

With an aim to turnaround from the making of loss and
safeguard returns to the shareholders of the Company, the
Group is in the process of reviewing the future prospect and
development of its other business segments, and at the same
time exploring new business opportunities and making more
efforts to explore market opportunities in Mainland China.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

There is no significant investment held and no material
acquisition and disposal conducted by the Group during the year
that should be notified to the shareholders of the Company.

There was no formal plan authorised by the Board for any
significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals as at
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
NIL).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s net deficit was
approximately HK$382.0 million (2023: approximately HK$378.3
million).

REVERSAL OF LOSS ALLOWANCES OF
XlgéE_FSRECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT

The Company had provided for reversal of loss allowances
on trade receivables and contract assets of approximately
HK$0.6 million and HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. Details of the impairment analysis is set out in
note 16 and 18 to this consolidated financial information.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operation by internally
generated cash flow, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, advances from shareholder(s) of the Company,
issuance of promissory notes and/or convertible bonds.

The major shareholders of the Company have been able to
provide financial resources (in form of loan advance, equity
finance etc.) to support the Group’s operations. The Company
believes that its shareholders will continue to provide financial
support to the Group where necessary and in due course.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash
amounted to approximately HK$38.8 million (2023: HK$52.0
million).

As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio was approximately
0.17 (2023: approximately 0.20) based on current assets of
approximately HK$139.1 million (2023: HK$172.9 million) and
current liabilities of approximately HK$824.8 million (2023:
HK$854.3 million).

Further details regarding the liquidity of the Group are set out
in “going concern assumption” of note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Referring to the sections of “Disclaimer of Opinion”, “Basis
for disclaimer of opinion” and “The Board’s response to the
Auditor’s Opinion”, the Company will continue to strive to
improve its operating results and financial position and provide
further information and communicate with the Company’s
auditors from time to time for their assessment of the going
concern assumption for subsequent financial reporting periods.

While the management would strive to recover the trade
receivables of gross carrying amount of HK$96.2 million as at
31 December 2024 to further improve its financial position, and
procure the possible loan or equity finance where necessary
and in due course, the Company will continue to allocate more
resources to the media and culture segment (e.g. flm and TV
series investment and production) which are the Group’s major
growth drivers.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES IN
JANUARY 2024

On 13 December 2023, the Company announced that the
Company and the placing agent (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) to which
the Company appointed the Placing Agent, as the sole agent of
the Company, to place, on a best effort basis and subject to the
fulfillment of the conditions precedent to the placing, a maximum
of 162,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Placing Shares”) to not less than six placees (the “Placees”)
at a price of HK$0.165 (the “Placing Price”) per Placing Share
(the “Placing”). The Placing Price represents (i) a discount of
approximately 15.82% to the closing price of HK$0.196 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
Placing Agreement; and (i) a discount of approximately 19.98%
to the average closing price of approximately HK$0.2062
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five
trading days of the Shares immediately prior to the date of
the Placing Agreement. The aggregate nominal value of the
maximum number of the Placing Shares under the Placing is
HK$16,200,000.

The Placing was completed on 8 January 2024, and the
Placing Shares were placed to not less than six Placees, whose
ultimate beneficial owners are independent third parties and not
connected persons and persons acting in concert (as defined
in the Takeovers Code) of the Company. The gross proceeds
from the Placing are approximately HK$26.7 million, and the net
proceeds, after deducting the placing commission, professional
fees and all related expenses which may be borne by the
Company, from the Placing are approximately HK$26.4 million.

The Company is of the view that the net proceeds from the
Placing would enable the Company to repay debts and replenish
the working capital of the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the
net proceeds from the Placing have been fully utilized.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13
December 2023 and 8 January 2024 for further details regarding
the Placing.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATES

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and business transactions
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and U.S.
dollars which have been relatively stable during the year. The
Group was not exposed to material foreign exchange risk
and has not employed any financial instruments for hedging
purposes.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group employed 20 (2023: 13) employees as at 31
December 2024. The Group’s remuneration policies are primarily
based on prevailing market salary levels and the performance of
the respective companies and individuals concerned. Employees
may also be invited to participate in the share option scheme of
the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this report, there is no major
event after the reporting period that should be notified to the
shareholders of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
complied with all applicable provisions of the Code for their
respective applicable periods.

Code Provision C.1.6 and F.2.2

Under code provision C.1.6, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders. Further, under code provision F.2.2,
the chairman of the Board should also invite the chairmen of the
audit, remuneration, nomination and any other committees (as
appropriate) to attend. In their absence, the chairman should
invite another member of the committee or their duly appointed
delegate, to attend the annual general meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance
function. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Board (i) developed and reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, and made recommendations
to the Board; (ii) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and senior
management (where applicable); (iii) reviewed and monitored the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; and (iv) reviewed and monitored the
compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance
with the Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business strategic decisions
and performances.
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EEERARS

As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of five
Executive Directors, Mr. Sang Kanggiao (Co-Chairman), Mr. Jing
Xufeng (Co-Chairman), Mr. Luo Lei (Chief Executive Officer),
Ms. Wu Xiaoli and Mr. Hu Fanghui; and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. Wu Hongliang, Mr. Niu Zhongjie, and Mr.
Xu Zhihao.

The Company complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
persons with academic and professional qualifications in the
fields of accounting and/or appropriate expertise. They provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board. Each Independent Non-executive
Director gives an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company and the Company considers these directors to be
independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times annually and
additional Board meetings are held when the Board considers
appropriate. Notice of regular Board meetings is served to
all the Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For
other Board meetings and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. In respect of regular Board meetings
or committee meetings and so far as practicable in all other
cases, meeting papers are sent to the Directors or respective
committee members in a timely manner and at least 3 days
before the intended date of the respective meetings. The
Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings, and the final
version of such minutes are open for inspection by any Director.
Details of Directors’ attendance records during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out below:

Directors EZ AGM
REBEAE

Board (Note)
B2 ()

RAREAH EFTHLLHTEETRES .
£ WEERE)  RBELRE BEERE) BERLE
(TEABE) SN L RPFEEE k=28
YIATEFREREE - FBELERREHE
EHEA

BE_E_NE+_A=+—BULEEE XAFTB
B EHRBESA0(1)RE)EU KR ES. 10A1E

ARBZBUFRATEET RN ESAEER BM
REXERR / REEERZ AL - BERBFUE
TEFEZRENETRMH R IZT -SBILIEN
TEEHRAATFLEEBIEZ FERES M
NERA/BRBELHRAUEAMG ZEFEETHIRE
AL

/EHH%$E auiiﬁfzﬂ\%ﬁﬂ_ﬂ&ﬁ %%ED’U
REENRERTHRIESEEZ -THESS
BZBEDRNEZRTAIRDI4RE %%%E%
Eo ERHEMEEEER KT EEEHm —REE
HEEBEEN AT EFTeNZERgEZNE
EXMH EMMBEEMBER TRUIBER TR §ERX
REEFHZZEGME URPVEFBEERIH
HAMBRAIEH REIMEBEFERREMEBE

egEKkTEEgRE EECH HERAHA
MEEEM - BEZ_MWE+ZA=+—HIHF
ER E2HFEERLERZFFTHINWT !

Meetings Attended/Held

LERY/ BTEERH

Investment
Steering

Committee

REBSZAS

Anti-money
Laundering
Committee

RAERHEES

Executive
Committee

HiiZAE

Remuneration
Committee

hHERS

Audit Nomination
Committee Committee

BHEAS fR42EE

L5

Mr. Tang Liang (resigned on 10 October 2024) BR (1 1/
Mr. Jing Xufeng %ﬂﬂé?‘ﬁ 0
Mr. Luo Lei BERE 0/
1/
1/
0

Executive Directors

2_ME+A+AR)

Mr. Sang Kangajao BEERL
Ms. Wo Xiaol e
Mr. Hu Fanghui #HhBkL

BU4ES

SRRRE 0/ 12112
4E2RE 1

Tty 1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Hongiang

Mr. Niu Zhongjie

Mr. Xu Zhineo

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Chairman and
the Independent Non-executive Directors met at least once
without the presence of the other executive Directors and the
management.
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Corporate Governance Report

Apart from the above regular board meetings of the year, the
board of Directors will meet on other occasions when a board-
level decision on a particular matter is required. The Directors
receive details of agenda items for decision and minutes of
committee meetings in advance of each board meeting. The
board of Directors has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering corporate strategy, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment, succession planning, risk management,
major acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions, and other
significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the board of Directors
to the management include the preparation of annual and interim
accounts for board approval before public reporting, execution
of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the board
of Directors, implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with
relevant statutory requirements, rules and regulations.

The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to management where necessary to obtain
adequate information to enable it to make informed decisions.

Every Director has the liberty to seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense if so reasonably required.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors of the Company, including Independent
Non-executive Directors, are appointed for terms of one year or
three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, Directors appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office until the next following general
meeting and can be eligible for re-appointment at that time.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are continually encouraged to update themselves
with legal and regulatory developments, and the business
and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

All Directors are requested to provide the Company with their
respective training records pursuant to the Code. The Directors
confirmed that they have complied with code provision C.1.4 of
the Code on Director’s training.

During the year, the Directors have confirmed their participation
in appropriate continuous professional development activities by
ways of attending seminars or self-reading.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with
such code of conduct and the required standard of dealings
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March
2012. As at the date of this report, members of the Nomination
Committee included one Executive Director, Mr. Sang Kanggiao,
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Wu
Hongliang, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhihao. The Nomination
Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Sang Kanggiao. The full
version of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

lts primary objectives include reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board under diversified perspectives set out
in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate.

The Company has formulated the nomination policy, and factors
which would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for director
include, inter alia, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as Board member, diversity of the Board, and
such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which aims
to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange
will not consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender
board. During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Wu Xiaoli
acted as the female Director. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises eight Directors, including one female Director.
There are three independent non-executive Directors on the
Board, which help promote critical review and control of the
management process. Based on the foregoing, the Nomination
Committee considers that the current Board is sufficiently
diversified in terms of its gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
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the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in ZHAEEREE (BEEETARSKAETERE WER)) R
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior  Z<¥R& HERRYMERIEEH
management (where applicable) as at the date of this report:
Female Male
2% B
Board ==y 1 7
(12.5%) (87.5%)
Employees (== 7 5
(58.3%) (41.7%)
Total #ast 8 12
(40.0%) (60.0%)
The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least ZEEZEHERTEEZ TERBEE_Z_NE+_H

one female Directors and 20% of female employees of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and considers that
the above current gender diversity is satisfactory. The Board
will endeavour to maintain at least female representation on
the Board and take opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

The Company has been taking, and will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at the Board and management
levels. To achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has set
out the following targets and policies:
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EEERARS

(@ the Group is committed to providing career development
opportunities to its female staff. Since Listing, the Group
has deployed resources in training senior female staff who
have long and relevant experience in the Group’s business,
including but not limited to accounting and finance,
operation and research and development. The Directors
believe that this policy could develop a pipeline of potential
successor and provide required manpower resources to
achieve gender diversity in the Board.

(b) the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates
are considered.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board was
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy, was not aware of any mitigating factors or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across
the workforce (including senior management, where applicable)
more challenging or less relevant.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Company should establish
a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The full version of the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. The
roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include
the determination of the specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management (where applicable)
of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

As at the date of this report, members of the Remuneration
Committee included one Executive Director, Mr. Sang Kanggiao,
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Wu
Hongliang, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhiao. The Remuneration
Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Xu Zhihao.

Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held in
2024 to discuss remuneration related matters.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are:

° to make recommendations to the Board on policies
and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration; and

° to determine with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages for executive Directors and senior
management, and to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee has considered and reviewed
the existing terms of employment contracts of the executive
Directors and appointment letters of the non-executive
Directors with reference to the factors including salaries paid
by comparable companies, performance of the Directors, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and desirability of
performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the existing terms of employment contracts of the
executive Directors and appointment letters of the non-executive
Directors are fair and reasonable. Details of the emoluments of
the Directors are set out in note 8 of this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditors are Prism Hong Kong Limited
(the “Auditors”). The audit committee of the Group (the “Audit
Committee”) is responsible for considering the appointment
of the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions
performed by the external auditors, including whether such non-
audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse
effect on the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
auditor’s remuneration is HK$1,330,000.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As required by Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and duties. The full version
of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
Its principal duties are to review and supervise the Group’s
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems. As at the date of this report, members of the
Audit Committee included: three Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. Wu Hongliang, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhiao.
The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Niu Zhongjie.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 December 2024.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

° to provide the Directors with an independent review of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process internal
control and risk management system of the Group;

° to oversee the audit process;

° to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Group’s ESG performance and
reporting;
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° to review the changes, since the last annual review, in
the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the issuer’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

o to review the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal
control systems, and the work of its internal audit function
and other assurance providers;

° to review the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s))
which enables it to assess control of the Group and the
effectiveness of risk management;

° to review significant control failings or weaknesses that
have been identified during the period, and the extent
to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in
the future have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

° to review the effectiveness of the Group’s processes for
financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules; and

° to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and has met with the
independent auditor. The Audit Committee has also discussed
matters with respect to the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Company and internal control with management.
The Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance. The Audit Committee has
conducted review of the risk management and internal control
systems, and the effectiveness of the issuer’s internal audit
function. The Audit Committee is satisfied with the adequacy
and effectiveness of such systems for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the Auditors on the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024, and is of the opinion that the preparation of
the consolidated results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Audit Committee considered that the existing terms in
relation to the appointment of the Group’s external auditors are
fair and reasonable.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had no
disagreement with the Audit Committee’s view on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor.

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
COMMITTEE

An Anti-money Laundering Committee was established
on 12 February 2015. At the date of this report, members
of the Anti-money Laundering Committee included two
executive Directors, Mr. Jing Xufeng and Mr. Luo Lei, and one
Independent Non-executive Director, Mr. Niu Zhongjie. The
Anti-money Laundering Committee is currently chaired by Mr.
Niu Zhongjie. The Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Company’s anti-money laundering policy and procedures and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board, monitoring the implementation and compliance with
the Company’s standard operation procedures for anti-money
laundering and reviewing such policy, as appropriate, and
making recommendations on any revisions that may be required
to the Board.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

An Executive Committee was established on 13 April 2018. At
the date of this report, members of the Executive Committee
included four executive Directors, Mr. Sang Kanggiao, Mr. Jing
Xufeng, Mr. Luo Lei and Ms. Wu Xiaoli. The Executive Committee
is currently chaired by Mr. Luolei. The Committee is responsible
for monitoring the day-to-day operation of the Company and any
of the Company’s subsidiaries (“Subsidiary”) from time to time
and should be reported to the Board.

INVESTMENT STEERING COMMITTEE

An Investment Steering Committee was established in June
2010. At the date of this report, members of the Investment
Steering Committee included two executive Directors, Mr. Sang
Kanggiao and Mr. Jing Xufeng, and two independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhihao. The
Investment Steering Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Sang
Kanggiao. The Committee is responsible for the consideration,
recommendation of potential investment projects. Ad-hoc
meetings will be held when potential projects are identified.
During the meeting, they will review individual project’s position
and action to be taken if necessary, and to recommend to the
board for consideration and approval.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the accounts and the
responsibilities of the Auditors to the shareholders of the
Company are set out on pages 71 to 72 of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
risk management and internal control system and for reviewing
its effectiveness on an annual basis, in respect of controls on
financial, operational, compliance and risk management, to
safeguard shareholders’ interest and the Group’s assets.

The risk management and internal control system are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The system
aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in
achieving the Company’s objectives.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control system

The objectives of the risk management and internal control
framework of the Group include:

° to enhance corporate governance standards;

° to continuously establish and improve the company-wide
and top-down approach risk management and internal
control system;

° to strengthen the Group’s risk management and internal
control in compliance with the Main Board Listing Rules
requirements; and

o to address on-going changes and challenges and reduce
uncertainties.
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Three-Line defense risk management model

The Group has used a three-line defense risk management
model to identify, assess, mitigate and manage risks. At the
first line of defense, operational departments are responsible for
identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with each
business. The management, as the second line of defense, sets
out policies and procedures, defines management structure, and
provide guidance on risk management. It ensures that risks are
within the acceptable range and that the first line of defense is
effective. As the third line of defense, the Audit Committee, with
the assistance of the Group’s internal audit department, ensures
that the first and second lines of defense are effective through
on-going assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control system. The
Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, oversees
and reviews the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems over its business operations annually and on an
ongoing basis.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:
Identification

° Identifies risks that may affect the Group’s businesses.

Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment

baseline developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Responding

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk

assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.
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Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

With the assistance of the Group’s internal audit department
for implementation of risk management framework and
the processes above to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve
material internal control defects, management promptly identifies
risks, evaluates the likelihood and impact of risks, assesses
the adequacy of action plans to manage these risks and
monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the actions plans. A
risk register is prepared to summarise the identified key risks,
the assessment of risk and related risk mitigating actions and
tabled for discussion by the Audit Committee, and for reporting
to the Board through the Audit Committee members. The
risk register summary facilitates the Board in reviewing the
changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment, as well the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing risk monitoring and related mitigating internal control
measures.

Internal Control

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal
audit team. The team plays an important part in the assessment
of the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group and reports directly to the Audit Committee on a regular
basis. The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee,
oversees and reviews the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems over its business operations annually and on
an ongoing basis. The team conducts internal audit reviews
on material controls in financial, operational and compliance
with policies and procedures of the Group. Plans and tools
for corrective actions and control improvement are identified
and communicated with operations management to address
any issues or deficiencies identified. The team monitors the
implementation of remediation plans and actions by the
operations management and reports the outcome to the Audit
Committee.
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The Board has reviewed and, with the concurrence of the Audit
Committee, is satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems in
addressing financial, operational and compliance risks as at 31
December 2024.

Material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern

Disclaimer of Opinion

The Auditors do not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Because of the potential
interaction of the multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statement as described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” section of the auditor’s report, it is not possible for the
auditor to form an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in the auditor’s opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred net loss of approximately HK$28,382,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net deficit
of approximately HK$685,721,000 and HK$382,018,000
respectively. As at the same date, the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings and film investment loans, derivative financial
liabilities and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$646,710,000 in total, while its
cash and cash equivalents was amounted to approximately
HK$38,826,000 only.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group defaulted on repayment
of certain interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans
(including those classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) with
principal amounts of approximately HK$611,286,000, and had
further interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans
(including those classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) with
principal amounts of approximately HK$35,424,000, which
were repayable within one year. These conditions, together with
other matters disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, and to
remediate certain delayed repayments to financial institutions,
which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of these measures, which are subject
to multiple uncertainties, including (i) new sources of finance will
be obtained to support the Group’s operating and financing cash
outflows; (i) re-financing or extensions will be obtained for the
Group’s existing interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities);
(iiiy the implementation of the Group’s business strategy could
enhance profitability and cash inflows of the Group; and (iv)
the implementation of the Group’s cost control strategies on its
selling, distribution and administrative costs and film investment
expenditures could reduce the cash outflows of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their realisable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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The Board’s response to the basis for
disclaimer of opinion

The Group has been actively negotiating with lenders for
re-financing and/or extension of repayments of overdue
borrowings. At the material time of preparation of the Cashflow
Forecast and up to the date hereof, the Group was still in the
course of negotiating with the lenders and could not provide
lenders’ consents on the re-financing or extension of repayments
of overdue borrowings as requested by the Auditors.

At the same time, the Group is exploring new financing
opportunities such as share subscription and sales of partial of
the film’s interests. These financing opportunities are still under
internal discussion stage and so no detailed plan/evidence could
be provided to the Auditors at this stage.

The Group expected that new business would commence in
2025 generating new sources of income. At the material time
of preparation of the Cashflow Forecast, the Group is still
discussing with the potential business partners on certain terms
and conditions, and thus, certain of these business cooperation
agreements or memorandums of understanding has yet to be
entered into. Consequently, no evidence is provided to prove the
validity of new sources of income as requested by the Auditors.

Management’s position

The Directors considered that the assumption of deferred
repayment on borrowings and loans during the Forecasted
Period is valid, as during the discussion of the existing interest-
bearing borrowings and film investment loans, the lenders
showed willingness not to demand an immediate repayment
of the existing loans and borrowings within a reasonable time
after taking into consideration (i) the time required for recovery
after prolonged period of COVID-19 which severely affected
the business of the Group, (i) the long-term business plans
and timeline presented to the lenders, and (iii) the Group’s
proactiveness to reach out to the lenders and discuss the
follow-up repayment plans. On the other hand, the Auditors
considered that unless written agreement(s) was signed, all the
interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans should be
repayable based on the contractual repayment date and shall be
taken into consideration in the preparation of Cashflow Forecast.
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The Group considered that the assumption on new sources of
income during the forecast period is valid as key terms, such as
service fees and service period, had been verbally agreed with
the counterparties and therefore the revenue and corresponding
cash inflows based on the agreed timeframe had been
incorporated in the Cashflow Forecast. The Auditors, on the
other hand, considered that such income could not be justified
in the preparation of Cashflow Forecast as no signed business
cooperation agreements/memorandum of understanding is
provided which could evidence the existence and validity of the
new sources of income.

Audit Committee’s view

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the
Disclaimer Opinion as the management could not provide
sufficient appropriate audit evidence underpinning the Cashflow
Forecast to the Auditors. Members of the Audit Committee
discussed with the management prior to the issue of annual
results announcement for the year ended 31 December
2024 to understand and enquire the basis to prepare the
consolidated financial statement on a going concern basis and
the Company’s proposal to address the Disclaimer Opinion. The
Audit Committee noted that the Group has undertaken or in the
progress of implementing the Measures to improve its liquidity
position.

The Audit Committee also discussed with the Auditors to
understand the reasons that trigger their issuance of Disclaimer
Opinion. After discussing separately with the management of
the Group and the Auditors, and with careful consideration, the
Audit Committee agreed with the management’s position and
judgements on substantial judgmental areas.

The Audit Committee is of the view that as at the date of this
report, it is not aware of any indication that any of the Measures
cannot be completed. With reference to the Cashflow Forecast
which is prepared upon the assumption that the Measures will
be successfully implemented, the Board is of the view that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the next eighteen
months from the date of approval for the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit
Committee is of the view that the management should continue
its best efforts in implementing the Measures with the intention
of mitigating the Group’s liquidity pressure and removing the
disclaimer opinion in the next financial year.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Audit Committee also ensures that proper whistleblowing
policy is in place so that employees can report any concerns,
including misconduct, impropriety or fraud in financial reporting
matters and accounting practices, in confidence and without
fear of recrimination, for a fair and independent investigation
and the appropriate follow-up action. Employees can report
these concerns to either the Group internal audit department
or chairman of the Audit Committee. The identity of the
whistleblower will be treated with the strictest confidence.

In 2024, no incidents of fraud or misconduct were reported
from employees, Shareholders or stakeholders that had a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements or overall
operations.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly
confidential until the relevant announcement is made. An
employee who becomes aware of a matter or event that he/she
considers to be material or inside information shall report to his/
her division/department head who will assess the sensitivity of
the relevant information and, if considered appropriate, escalate
and report to the Board and/or the company secretary of the
Company. The Directors are not aware of any significant areas
which need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Ho Chun
Sing. The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the
Company and reports to the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive. The appointment and removal of the Company
Secretary are subject to the approval of the Board. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable
law, rules and regulations, are followed. During the year ended
31 December 2024, Mr. Ho has received no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules to refresh his skills and knowledge.
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EEERQRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings can send a written request to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company to request a Special General Meeting
(“SGM”).

The written request should be deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 01, 12/F,
1111 King’s Road, Taikoo Shing, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The written request must state the resolution(s), accompanied by
a statement of the matters referred in the proposed resolution(s)
and signed by the shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order,
the Company will convene a SGM within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of the request. The actual SGM shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of the written request.

Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meeting

The procedures for shareholder(s) to put forward proposals at
SGM include a written notice of those proposals being submitted
by the shareholder(s) of the Company, addressed to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 01, 12/F, 1111 King’s
Road, Taikoo Shing, Hong Kong.

Procedures for nomination of Directors for
election

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at
www.zskj.com.hk.
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Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Any Shareholder(s) who wish to raise enquiries concerning the
Company to the Board may deliver their written enquiry(ies) to
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at the address at Room 01, 12/F, 1111 King’s Road, Taikoo
Shing, Hong Kong, for the attention of the chairman of the Board
and the Company Secretary. Upon receipt of the enquiries, the
Company would reply as soon as possible.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Smart Digital Technology Group Limited (the “Company’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in general meeting
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) and the Board may from time to time pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the Board to
be justified by the profits of the Company, in accordance with
the provision of the memorandum of association and Bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended from time to time) (the “Companies
Act’).

In accordance with the applicable requirements of the Bye-
Laws and the Companies Act, the Company shall not declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of profits available for
distribution if:

(@ it would render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby
become less than its liabilities.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
shares. The Board may further resolve that such dividend be
satisfied wholly or in part by the distribution of specific assets
of any kind and in particular of paid up shares, debentures or
warrants to subscribe securities of the Company or any other
company, or in any one or more of such ways, and where any
difficulty arises in regard to the distribution the Board may settle
the same as it thinks expedient.
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EEERARS

In respect of any dividend that the Board or the Company, in
a general meeting, has resolved to be paid or declared on any
class of the share capital of the Company, the Board may further
resolve either:

(@  that such dividend be satisfied wholly or in part in the form
of an allotment of shares credited as fully paid up, provided
that the Shareholders entitled thereto will be entitled to
elect to receive such dividend (or part thereof if the Board
so determines) in cash in lieu of such allotment; or

(b) that the Shareholders entitled to such dividend shall be
entitled to elect to receive an allotment of shares credited
as fully paid up in lieu of the whole or such part of the
dividend as the Board may think fit.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board, which will take into account, inter alia, the following
factors when considering the payment or declaration of
dividends:

(@) the Group’s actual and expected operations, financial
performance and conditions and liquidity position;

(o)  the Shareholder’s interests;

(c) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

()  statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(90 general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have any impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company; and

(h)  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to
review the dividend policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend
policy from time to time, and the dividend policy shall in no way
constitute an assurance or a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend in any particular
amount for any given period.
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AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
changes to the Company’s constitutional document.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and financial statements,
the interim report, as well as the AGM. The AGM allows the
Directors to meet and communicate with shareholders. The
Board believes that such an established mechanism can ensure
independent views and input from the shareholders are available
to the Board.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate
website is maintained to disseminate Company announcements
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
electronically on a timely basis.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy from
time to time. Having considered the multiple channels of
communication and engagement in place, the Board is satisfied
that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented during 2024 and is effective.

The Board considers that each independent non-executive
Director brings his own level of experience and expertise to
the effective functioning of the Board. The Board seeks the
development of an effective working environment for the
executive and independent non-executive Directors so as to
improve the quality of the decisions made by the Board without
constraining the independent views of the independent non-
executive Directors. Regular Board meetings were held during
the year with open discussion between the executive Directors
and the independent non-executive Directors so as to enhance
mutual understanding and effective working relationships. The
Group has established mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the board.
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EFEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jing Xufeng (“Mr. Jing”), aged 54, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 May 2021
and redesignated as an executive Director on 2 March 2023.
Mr. Jing has years of experience in the fields of news media,
audiovisual, culture media and investment management. From
July 1994 to May 2010, he served in Xinhua News Agency (¥t
#E1t) as the reporter of Jiangsu Branch, director of television
news centre* (BBR#E 90, director of news and information
centre* (i {E B # 0y, assistant to director of Xinhua News
Agency Audio News Editorial Department* (3721t & &3 B4R
#538) as well as person-in-charge and director of Xinhua News
Agency Audio News Desk* (FZE# & &) . From October
2008 to October 2013, he served as the director of the China
Audiovideo and Digital Publishing Association (41 [E & & &
HF HIRE) . Subsequently, he held various management
positions in different companies, including serving as the director
of 360 Enterprise Security Technology (Beijing) Group Co., Ltd.
(360 EZ 2T AER) £EBRAF) from October 2017
to December 2018, the chairman of Tengyue Culture Media
(Beijing) Group Co., Ltd. BBREEEE Gt £EEBRARE)
from September 2016 to December 2020, the executive director
of Beijing Jinhui Graham Investment Limited Gt R & ESIREE
E A EAF)from April 2019 to December 2020, the chairman
and manager of Tianjin Tengyue Tianxia Culture and Technology
Co., Ltd* (RZERX T XERHEBR AR since June 2017,
the vice chairman of Zhongan Huixin Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (FZEFKEEIEBRAE)since July 2017, the
director of Moer Xingling (Beijing) Network Technology Co.,
Lid* (EBEE (bR A& B RAE) since September
2017, the director of Zhejiang Talent Television & Film Co.,
Ltd. G IEEERRMBBERLXE), a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 300426,
since May 2019 and the independent director of CITIC Press
Corporation (FAIEHAREBRMNDERAE), a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 300788,
since September 2016.

Mr. Jing graduated from Yangzhou University majoring in
Chinese Language and Literature in June 1994.
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Mr. HU Fanghui (“Mr. HU”), aged 59, joined the Group in
October 2021 as a managing director of the Group focusing on
the Group’s business development, government relations and
capital markets. He is also currently serving as the chairman of
the board of China Science IntelliCloud Technology Co., Ltd. (/7
HEERFEARAT)and is responsible for the company’s
strategy planning, public relations and investments. From
2010 to 2018, he served as the vice president of Chia Tai
Group (IEXEME) and the vice chairman and chief executive
officer of CP Modern Living Group (1E A ¥4 & & E) which
he was responsible for real estate development, investments
and general management of the group, the Belt and Road
Initiative investment cooperation, government relations, and
investment cooperation with large Chinese enterprises. From
2015 to 2020, Mr. HU served as the president of % BIF]%E H
(Jinkaili Group™) and was responsible for real estate development
and management, investments, and business operation
management.

Mr. HU received his Bachelor’s degree in Management from 155
3@ AE (Beijing Jiaotong University*).

Mr. Luo Lei (“Mr. Luo”), aged 55, is a television and film
director and producer. A graduate of the prestigious Directing
Program of Beijing Film Academy and a member of the
Producers Guild of America, Peter has been involved in film and
television productions for decades. Peter produces powerful,
innovative and diverse visual narratives that sit at the intersection
of prestige and wide commercial appeal, like E&F “Marshall”,
W& &4 “Crazy Rich Asians”, R E “Midway”, RBS5RHH
= “Scary Stories to Tell in the Dark”, E & Z “Wuhan Wuhan”,
BepAE “Malignant”, fT#E “Umma” and so on. Peter also
worked as an executive producer, director, screenwriter, and
showrunner, making many critically acclaimed and highly-rated
film and television programs, starting in 2001. These include:
BEMSCIEIERE “Love in Sunshine”, which was the first TV
drama in China that finished the whole production outside the
country; XE1ER “Blooming Hibiscus,” which was the first
TV drama with a city marketing plan in China; the TV series
BIRE2EZ “Plainclothes Policeman,” which was broadcast on
CCTV-1, ranked in the top three in ratings for a year, and won
many awards including ‘The Five Best National Works’ and the
‘Outstanding TV Drama Awards from the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television’; T E “Snowy Eagle”, which
was broadcast on CCTV-1, and was the highest-rated show of
that year, while also setting a record of 1.5 billion views online;
and BESHEAM[ PR RV SE “Papa, Can You Hear Me Sing,” which
was the highest-rated show in China the year it debuted. Due
to Mr. Luo’s contribution to promote diversity and inclusion in
the industry, Mr. Luo has been awarded the Griot Gala Award
in 2020 and has been rated as one of the Top dealmakers in
Hollywood in 2020 by the Variety Magazine.

Directors’ Profiles

EFERE

B (TRRSkAE)) 59 RZE - —F+AM
ARER EAEREREFAEKE B3N AEFE
HRE BHARGBREATR RERATREER
RERATDEESIFETEASTZAT 2R
NEBEGBREE B E—ZFE_T—\F K
EETERERRFFEREAFETERITERS
FBHTE BAESZERZEMERE BERESE
B —REZRESE BUNEGRREAE DR
TCENKESIE B E—RHEE_ T _FF ik
CHETSEMNERTIETASEERBREE
REREGSEEE

HAERIRREARRESHERREE L8 -

BERE (THRKXE)) o5 BEREERHA
N ERIIRBE BN EEREEXEREH
RAAGERE  RECRSBHEEZRFEH T+
F-RRFEZEERNEZFREER AIEMAK
NEZH SESFREOR REZNEERS W
(BB  (BxEHH) (PES)  (RIFZ MmN
E)(RERRE) ~ (B BB ) ~ (P45 ) 35 - IR
ERATHRAEAEE - GEAKHEEFA - B-F
T-FERFTHAZSWREREERETINER

BEREHE -ZFHEEE  PEFE—HINIBIIT
EBRENERRI(EERICBRMEE ) ; PEIE—
BEAHHES B NVERRCRBERM) ; IRCCTV-1
BHNERA(ERER)  EERRRIERAT=
TES2ELFFER RTERXREEBRHEFER
BB ; IRCCTV-1IE (S B ®E) - HE F AR
RESNEHE WAl MEMEBREBLE 5 (5
FEMANNE)  REFNPERRRRSHED
BeomHNBLAEERETESHREREEMESEN
B BAEEWIE T _Z S &Criot Galaf W
(GE)RSTH__Z_EFHERBREERZAZ

=0

BHHBEERARAT —F_NEFR

43



d4d

Directors’ Profiles

EFEE

Mr. Sang Kanggiao (“Mr. Sang”), aged 49, has been
appointed as an executive Director on 20 February 2020.
Mr. Sang obtained a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering
from Beijing Institute of Technology. Mr. Sang has over 19 years
of experience in the securities investment industry in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Sang also serves as an
executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of
U Banquet Group Holding Limited (BEE£EIZEREIRAT),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1483).

Ms. Wu Xiaoli (“Ms. Wu”), aged 35, has been appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
on 23 July 2019. Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor Degree in English
from China Jiliang University in 2012. She was the general
manager of FINEEIZRBREAF], a company established in
the PRC, from 2012 to 2017. Since 2017, Ms. Wu has served
as the general manager of HIMNIFEIXERIRBRAR (*HZ
Bochuang”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. NIU Zhongjie (“Mr. Niu”), aged 57, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 15 September 2023.
Mr. Niu holds a Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration
awarded by Northeast Missouri State University, Missouri USA
in May 1994. He also holds a Degree of Master of Business
Administration awarded by The University of Hong Kong in
December 1999. Mr. NIU has worked with various financial
institutions and has extensive experience in equity capital
markets. He is currently the responsible officer for type 4
(advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities of Vision Finance Asset Management Limited. He is
also a director of Vision Finance International Company Limited
and the responsible officer of the company to carry on type 1
(dealing in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities.

He is currently an independent non-executive director of Nanjing
Sample Technology Company Limited (R R =& R IR 1H AR
‘AT (stock code: 1708), Peiport Holdings Limited (% 1% A
FR/AF]) (stock code: 2885), New Media Lab Limited Gir{E 2|
A BR/AF)) (stock code: 1284), the shares of which are listed on

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. NIU was an executive director of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited Qb RiE B XILEXEH
BPR/AT), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1803) between 23 April
2015 to 7 November 2018. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Gold-Finance Holdings Limited. (&
TR B R/A ) (“Gold-Finance”) between 3 February 2016
and 15 May 2019. Gold-Finance was a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1462) but the
trading of Gold-Finance’s securities on the Stock Exchange
was suspended on 5 May 2019 and it was eventually delisted
on 16 March 2021. As disclosed in the announcements made
by Gold-Finance prior to its delisting, a winding-up petition was
filed against Gold-Finance on 3 June 2019 in the High Court of
Hong Kong and provisional liquidators were appointed in respect
of Gold-Finance on 5 June 2019 as a result of a winding-up
petition filed against Gold-Finance’s controlling shareholder in
April 2019, which falls within 12 months after Mr. NIU’s ceasing
to act as its independent non-executive director. For further
details of the said winding-up petition and delisting, please refer
to the announcements made by Gold-Finance. Based on public
information, Gold-Finance was an investment holding company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability, and its principal activities were investment
and asset management services in the PRC, property investment
and development in the PRC and building services in Hong
Kong. According to the Cayman Islands Gazette dated 10 May
2021 (Issue No. 10/2021), Gold-Finance was struck off from the
Cayman Islands Companies Register on or around 29 May 2020
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

Mr. XU Zhihao (“Mr. Xu”), aged 54, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 September 2023. Mr.
Xu graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Laws from Guangzhou
Jinan University in 1994 and obtained a master of Laws from the
graduate school of China University of Political Science and Law
in 2004.

Mr. XU has been practising law since 1998 and has gained
20 years’ experience in the legal industry. He founded Jincheng
Tongda & Neal (Shenzhen) (bR EZE CRII) EENSEHEAN)
in 2003 and was the senior partner until 2019. He is currently
a senior consultant of the firm. Mr. XU specialises in finance,
securities and dispute resolution, and provides legal services
to various financial institutions and listed companies. He also
focuses on the investments in medical and cultural exchange
projects in the Greater Bay Area, and serves as a director
of Global Medical Group Limited (HBIEKREREEREA
@) and an independent non-executive director of Net-a-Go
Technology Company Limited (48 %} 5 B2 &) (stock code:
1483), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Wu Hongliang (“Mr. Wu”), aged 54, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 2 March 2023. Mr.
Wu is the founder of, and currently the Chief Content Officer of
Zhejiang Talent Television & Film Co., Ltd* Gy I E{E S 18R 1D
BBR/AE]), which is a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300426). Mr. Wu has participated in the
production of a large number of movies and television drama
series such as “Young Hero Fong Sai Yuk™ (‘DEZIEHHEE),
“the Great Emperor of the Han Dynasty” GEELATE), etc. Mr.
Wu is also currently serving as the executive director (F #5512 55)
of China Television and Art Committee* (TEIBREMEE E),
“China Television Council™ (PR ERYIEEF)and the Beijing
Film Academy Ot REX 2 .

Mr. Wu has over ten years of experience in the field of movie and
television drama production. From October 2006 to December
2009, Mr. Wu served as the director* (E2) and manager* (&
I#) of Dongyang Talent Television & Film Co., Ltd* GRFEEE
FRAUEFR/AT). From December 2009 to August 2011,
Mr. Wu was redesignated as the chairman of the board* (£
E£)and manager* (432) of the same company, Mr. Wu has
also worked at China Film Group Corporation (FPEE & £ H
‘AF)) and held the position of assistant director of the television
program production centre* (BREI H RIEFR O\ FEEENIE) . Mr.
Wu has also been the deputy general manager (& 75 Bl 42 45 38)
of Century Hero Film Investment Co., Ltd (H 42 HIEEF IR E R
[RAED.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in production management
from the Beijing Fim Academy (JEEREFZ2F7)in June 1993.
Mr. Wu was awarded “The Ninth National Top Ten TV Drama
Producer™ (B EZ2E+HEEBEREIH & A)in 2012,
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The Directors hereby presents their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of Smart Digital
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the year and up to 31 December 2024, the company and
its subsidiaries were involved in the following principal activities:

° media and culture business

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 73
to 74 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In recent years, the media business of the world is gradually
rebounding from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic which
has spread all over the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes
of the Writers Guild of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA
in 2023. Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt
of income of TV drama and film investments of the Company
significantly and negatively affected the operating results
regarding these investments, which has been reducing the
amount of revenue recognized for a few years. The slow-down
of business activities and postponement of some of the film and
TV drama projects developed by the Group in prior years have
impacted on the financial results of the Group.

Revenue and gross profit from its media and culture business
for the year of 2024 was approximately HK$40.4 million and
HK$40.4 million respectively (2023: revenue of approximately
HK$80.3 million and gross profit of approximately HK$15.1
million).
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The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$28.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$45.7 million).

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
28.89 HK$ cents (2023: approximately 55.51 HK$ cents). Net
deficit of the Group were approximately HK$382.0 million (2023:
approximately HK$378.3 million).

Key Risks Factors

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties
which the Group faces. It is a non-exhaustive list and there
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to the key risks
factors outlined below. Besides, this report does not constitute a
recommendation or advice for anyone to invest in the securities
of the Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

1. Local taxation may increase and tax liability may increase
for future amendment of tax rules.

2. The impact of COVID-19 and the weakening in economic
and credit market conditions may continue to adversely
affect film boxing revenue and the profitability of our media
business.

3.  Risk regarding material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the issuer’s
ability to continue as a going concern may be referred
to the Disclaimer of Opinion and Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion of the Independent Auditor's Report in this
annual report, and the board’s response to the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion can be referred to Directors’ Report
in this annual report.

Future development and important events
after the end of the financial year

Details of events after the reporting period has been disclosed in
section headed “Events after the reporting period”.

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RBEE_EBE_NE+-_B=+—BLEE  &&
BHREAANTEE AELFEFHELN2840888 T
TETCF N4 TEEETT °
FERERERGENAE288BI (CE_=F 1 4
55.5178ll) - A& BRI AF AN A382.08 8B T
(ZEZ=5%  {9378.3@&E B T) °

FERBER

THIBRAEEFFEAEN 2T EZARKTBEBEER-
WEBWAFRE METIXAIIZEEZRARBER
Sh o Hth BB R R BERBEA R TR RIBE T fE o IEob > &
BREL R ERMEDTALTRERNATDEBSFZHER
ERUSR BEERZREENRETAEATR
AIETTER A B SEARE AT 2 REREM -

1. RERAZETREBEMBRBRRIAER
EIF =R

2. COVID-19REEREETHRTADREN
SUBHNBEREENakRABREFNE
HMBENBRAF R o

3. ARPEHITAFBCELENBEREREE
BHNEGRBERNERTRERRAR 7
2RAFRBIZBMBEAERERRS
BRERZER HEFEHITEXRERZ
ER ORI 2RAEREFTEREE-

%ﬁ$§%§@2$%ﬁﬁ&ig$

RERRFENFEEREN TREMBER) —
Hie



Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. We are
aware that, minimizing the consumption of resources and
adoption of best environmental practices in the business
process of the Group to the extent practicable is our underlying
commitment to preserving and improving the environment.
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. The Directors are not aware of any material non-
compliance with the environmental laws and regulations during
the year ended 31 December 2024. Green initiatives include
recycling of used papers, energy saving and water saving.

The 2024 environmental, social and governance report
(the “ESG Report”) which depicts the performance on the
sustainability of the Group are available in the “Investor
Relations” section of the website of the Company at
www.zskj.com.hk and on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk.

Relationship with suppliers, customers,
employees and other stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s medium and long-term goals.
The Company creates a framework for motivating staff and
a formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy
relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.

Compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations

In relation to human resources, the Group is committed to
complying with the requirements of the ordinances relating to
disability, gender, family status and racial discrimination, as well
as the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance
and ordinances relating to occupational safety of employees of
the Group, so as to safeguard the interests and well-being of its
employees.

There is no reported case of non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to the groups’ media and culture, and
entertainment and gaming business.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorised share capital of the
Company during the year. Details of the movement in the issued
share capital of the Company are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 77 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 December
2024 calculated under The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$655,741,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$556,778,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, revenue from the largest one and five largest
customers accounted for 65% and 100% respectively of the
total revenue for the year. Cost to from the largest one and five
largest suppliers accounted for 100% and 100% respectively of
the total cost for the year.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors of the
Company own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest suppliers or customers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year
ended 31 December 2024, other than service contracts with
the Directors and other persons engaged in the full-time
employment of the Company.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors of the Company is
interested in any business apart from the Company’s businesses
which compete or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly
with businesses of the Company.

LOAN ARRANGEMENTS GRANTED TO
ENTITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not grant
any loan to any entity which is subject to disclosure requirements
under Rule 13.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Co-Chairman and Executive Directors

Mr. Sang Kanggiao
Mr. Jing Xufeng

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Mr. Luo Lei

Executive Directors

Ms. Wu Xiaoli
Mr. Hu Fanghui

Directors’ Report
ESEREE

BEESY

RBE_Z_NE+_A=+—HLEFELES
UREFEAREAREBNEAZEZEBILDIZ
EERTHZEN BEERAMRARTEBT
2 NEETIL Z BRFB B AIRIERSh o

EFMNHRPFEH 2D

REFER AADEEFMERERADEBER
WE BN EEAREZ AT EBINZAE
PEBEREmD -

BRTEREZEMEH

REBEE_ZE_NE+_B=+—HLFE x&EH
WHERIEAEEEREFRELHRIEI1AKREE
BYURENEAER

BEE

REARBERARSARBLEERESRNT

BMEEFERATES

REBRE
RIBIESE

THRBRRNTES
BELE
BITES

SNBRE
A KERE

BERKEBRRART —ET_NFFER

51



52

Directors’ Report
EEEHRES

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Hongliang
Mr. Niu Zhongjie
Mr. Xu Zhihao

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Director,
namely Mr. Tang Liang resigned from his office due to his other
business engagements which require more of his attention and
dedication.

In accordance with Bye-laws 83(2), 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Jing Xufeng, Mr. Sang Kanggiao and
Mr. Wu Hongliang shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, and being eligible
to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

None of the directors being eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF THE
DIRECTORS

There is no change to any information required to be disclosed in
relation to any directors under Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were disclosed
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), or as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in the Appendix C3 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the
Listing Rules”) were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the
Company (Long positions)
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Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage

shares held of issued

Name of Director personal interests share capital
FEEAERZZ weRiTREZ

EEnuA SEREE BB oL
Mr. Sang Kanggiao ZEERE 1,362,950 1.38%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors nor the Chief Executive of the Company nor their
associates had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business (as
defined in the Listing Rules) to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year of 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or any contracts of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at 31 December 2024 or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provide that each Director,
secretary or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which any of them may incur or sustain
in or about the execution of the duties in their respective offices.
The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate
insurance to cover potential legal actions against its Directors.

The above provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (‘New
Share Option Scheme”) subsequent to the expiry of 2012
Share Option Scheme on 31 May 2022. The New Share Option
Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years commencing from
the adoption date (i.e., 3 August 2022). The remaining life of
the New Share Option Scheme is approximately 7 years and 4
months as at the date of this report.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to the eligible participants in
recognition of their contribution to the Group. The eligible
participants include full-time or part-time employees of the
Group (including any directors, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the Company
or any Subsidiary) and any suppliers, consultants, agents and
advisers or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
has contributed or may contribute to the Group are eligible for
options under the New Share Option Scheme.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme in aggregate is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at the adoption date. The total number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue in any
12-month period unless such grant is approved by independent
shareholders at a general meeting.
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Subject always to the limits referred to above, the Board
shall not grant any options to any eligible participant which, if
exercised, would result in such eligible participant becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of shares as, when
aggregated with the total number of shares already issued or
to be issued to him under all options granted to him (including
those options exercised or outstanding) in any 12-month period
exceed 1% of the shares in issue at such date. The Board may
grant options to any eligible participant in excess of the individual
limit of 1% in any 12-month period with the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting (with such eligible participant
and his associates abstaining from voting). In such situation, the
Company will send a circular to the shareholders and the circular
must disclose the identity of the eligible participant, the number
and terms of the options to be granted (and previously granted
to such eligible participant).

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the New Share Option Scheme is 8,235,647
shares (representing approximately 8.4% of the total issued
shares as at the date of this report).

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period
at the time of grant of any particular option. There is no vesting
period as designated under the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme. Also there has been no options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme since its adoption and as such, there is
no applicable vesting period for the shares granted.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme during the option period, which
shall not exceed the period of ten (10) years from the date of the
grant of the particular option but subject to the provisions for
early termination of the option period pursuant to the New Share
Option Scheme. No option may be exercised more than ten (10)
years after it has been granted. No option may be granted more
than ten (10) years after the adoption date. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board,
the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years after the adoption date.
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The Board has the discretion to require a particular grantee to
achieve certain performance targets specified at the time of
grant before any option granted under the New Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

The exercise price will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion and notified to an option holder. The
minimum exercise price shall not be less than the highest of: (a)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date; (b) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

An eligible participant shall pay the Company HK$1.00 for the
grant of an option on acceptance of an option offer within 21
days after the offer date.

No options have been granted under the New Share Option
Scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Option Scheme of the Company, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate. For details of the purpose of scheme, participants of
the scheme, shares available for issue, maximum entitlement of
the participant, etc., please refer to the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors
and the Chief Executive of the Company, the following persons
(other than any director and chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

FERRZEDRRE

RIBZNFE+"A=+—H ' MERIEFRE
ETBAERA U TFTAL (RRBEREERKE
ZTHABRIN RERE ZRH RABRRD %
BEREBEFRBEMRAIEXVEE2RI3NEZIHEX
MARRRABIREZ BmIKR > HRBEEF R
E1RBISE3B6FRAREARBEFEZECMAASCHRZ

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

B .
&2).% .

BmIRE  ABITHEERE R

B A2 PR 2 e e B

Approximate

percentage
Number of of issued
ordinary share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
BEATERT
BRR&TE g1 Fris&i@ie & B AL TS
(Note 1)
(Mg5E1)
Timcha Investment Limited Beneficial owner (note 2) 18,151,351 (L) 18.42%
(ReEEBRAE) (‘Formerly
known as CICFH Innovation
Investment Limited”)
REKERRLT BaHEB A (H5E2)
(TAT#ECICFH Innovation
Investment Limited 1)
IRRERXICERERRAT Interest of corporation controlled 18,151,351 (L) 18.42%
by you (note 2)
BTG EEER (T5E2)
ARBIRAERERRAR Interest of corporation controlled 18,151,351 (L) 18.42%
by you (note 2)
B TGN EEER (T5E2)
IR ENEEEEERERAE Interest of corporation controlled 18,151,351 (L) 18.42%

by you (note 2)
BTG EEER (F5E2)
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(L) All the shares are long positions.

1. The percentages are calculated based on the total number of
issued shares of the Company of 98,556,479 shares as at 31
December 2024.

2. The entire issued share capital of Timcha Investment Limited
(Formerly known as “CICFH Innovation Investment Limited”) is
wholly and beneficially owned by SIPEEELEEAR AT,
which is owned as to 34.97% by JIREE TR AIZEREFRA
B, which is wholly and beneficially owned by SIFERI 38 &
EIBHFBR/AT]. By virtue of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
IREEBXCERERAD, IREBIMKZAEREGRA
B and JIREEHIMEEEIERRAT are deemed to be
interested in all the shares in which Timcha Investment Limited is
interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
and is not aware of any other persons who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at
31 December 2024.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities,
warrants or other similar rights as at 31 December 2024
and there has been no exercise of any convertible securities,
warrants or similar rights during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into for the year are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. None of them
constitutes a connected transaction or a continuing connected
transaction as required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules (if applicable) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is based
on their merits, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, upon considering the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees. For details of the
purpose of scheme, participants of the scheme, shares available
for issue, maximum entitlement of the participant, etc., please
refer to the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval
by shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
of the Company. The remuneration payable to Directors are
determined by the Board on the Remuneration Committee’s
recommendation with reference to the Company’s remuneration
policy, and based on the Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
their contribution to the Group and the market environment.
Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of
their holding of the Company’s securities. If the Company’s
shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchase sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is a
sufficient public float of the issued share capital of the Company
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

DONATION

The Company has not made any donation during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

CAPITAL REORGANISATION

On 19 July 2024, a special resolution has been passed by the
shareholders of the Company for a capital reorganisation which
involves share consolidation and capital reduction. Consolidation
of every ten issued existing shares of par value of HK$0.10 each
into one consolidated share of par value of HK$1.00 each (the
“Consolidated Share(s)”) in the share capital of the Company.
Immediately upon the share consolidation becoming effective,
the par value of each issued Consolidated Share is reduced from
HK$1.00 to HK$0.1 by a cancellation of HK$0.9 of the paid-up
capital on each issued Consolidated Share so that each issued
Consolidated Share is treated as one fully paid up share of par
value HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company (the
“‘New Share(s)”) and the credit arising from the capital reduction
be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the
Company within the meaning of the Companies Act. The capital
reorganisation is completed on 23 July 2024. Details of the
capital reorganisation are set out in the Company’s circular dated
3 July 2024. Details of movements in the share capital of the
Group and details of the Shares issued during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

No debenture was issued by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at 31 December
2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interests of shareholders. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 21 to 41 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited resigned as auditor of the
Company with effect from 17 October 2024 and Prism Hong
Kong Limited (“Prism”) was appointed as auditor of the
Company with effect from 17 October 2024 to fill the causal
vacancy.

Prism will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM”) and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Prism as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024

As disclosed in sections headed “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” and “Disclaimer of Opinion” in independent auditor’s
report contained on pages 68 to 72 of this report, the auditor
of the Company did not express an audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Group incurred net loss of
HK$28,382,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. As at
31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net
deficit of HK$685,721,000 and HK$382,018,000 respectively.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group defaulted on repayment
of certain interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
with principal amounts of HK$611,286,000, and have a further
interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans (including
those classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and derivative financial liabilities) with principal amount
of HK$35,424,000 which were repayable within one year. These
borrowings and film investment loans of HK$646,710,000
in total exceed the Group’s cash and cash equivalents of
HK$38,826,000 as at 31 December 2024.

The Board’s response to the Auditor’s Opinion

In regard to the matters described in the section headed “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’s Report,
the Board would like to take this opportunity to provide the
Board’s response and other relevant information, as well as
measures taken or to be taken by management of the Company
for information purpose.

The Board’s response to the basis for
disclaimer of opinion

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have been
undertaking measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position, which are set out in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources
of finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The following
plans and measures are formulated to mitigate the liquidity
pressure, to improve the financial position of the Group, and to
remediate the overdue repayments to the lenders (“Measures”):

(@) The Group has been actively negotiating with all of the
lenders for renewal and extension for repayments of the
overdue borrowings to reduce the liquidity pressure of the
Group. As at the date of this report, the Group has been
negotiating with various lenders and strives to extend the
repayment date of borrowings and film investment loans.

(b) The Group has been exploring the possibility of raising
capital by way of equity finance, or reaching out to
shareholders of the Company for an advance to support
the Group’s operations. The Group will issue further
announcement in accordance with Listing Rules for further
updates in this regard.

(c) The Group has also been negotiating with various
financiers and potential investors of the film industry to
secure new sources of finance and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future. The Directors
believe that, considering the Group’s track record of film
investments and relationship with famous film directors, the
Group will be able to obtain new financing.

(d) The Group will continue to implement business strategy
to enhance the Group’s profitability and cash inflow. The
Group has been exploring new business opportunities to
broaden the Group’s revenue stream. The Group is actively
negotiating with various potential business partners for
new business opportunities. The Board expected that it
would be able to commence the business in or around
2025.

(e) The Group will continue to take active measures to
control costs relating to the Group’s sale and distribution,
administration and film investment expenditure and
prioritise film investments expenditures so as to improve
the Group’s cashflows.

()  The management of the Company would strive to recover
the trade receivables and contract assets as well as
ensuring on-time payment from film distributors to further
improve its financial position.
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Views of the Auditors and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the plan to resolve the
Disclaimer Opinion

The Auditors considers that, and the Audit Committee concurred
that, as long as the Measures taken/to be taken improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including (i) sufficient new
sources of finance could be obtained to support the Group’s
operating and financing cash outflows; (i) re-financing and/or
extensions could be obtained for the Group’s existing interest-
bearing borrowings and film investment loans (including those
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial liabilities) to defer the repayment for at
least 1 year from 31 December 2025; and (jii) the implementation
of the Group’s business strategy could enhance profitability
and cash inflows of the Group, and as well as corresponding
sufficient supporting evidence mentioned above could be
provided, the Disclaimer Opinion would not recur in the next
financial year.

Management’s basis on the adequacy of the
action plan to resolve the Disclaimer Opinion

As discussed in the Business and Operation Review in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this Report,
the COVID-19 pandemic and the strikes of the Writers Guild
of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023 led to
significant delays in distribution, settlement and receipt of
income of TV drama and film investments of the Group, and
thus causing an adverse impact on the operating results of the
Group (including its revenue and gross profit). The media and
entertainment sector in general also encountered a slow-down
of business activities and postponement of film and drama
productions. Given the difficulties to generate a turnaround
operating results amid the severely affected economies in the
previous few years, the implementation Company’s action plan
was delayed to 2025 leading to the going concern in 2024.
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The Group has also been negotiating with various financiers and
potential investors of the film industry to secure new sources of
finance and identifying various options for financing the Group’s
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable future. The
Directors believe that, considering the Group’s track record of
film investments and relationship with famous film directors, the
Group will be able to obtain new financing. The discussion with
film directors is still in progress and the Group expected that
new financing will be obtained by end of 2025.

The Group took active measures to control costs and prioritise
film investments expenditures so as to improve the Group’s
cashflows. Consequently, the selling and distribution and
administrative expenses recorded a decrease of approximately
34% in the year of 2024 as compared with that in the year of
20283. The Group believed that the cost control is effective and
expected that the cost in the year of 2025 will continuously
decrease.

The Group is continuously exploring new business opportunity
generating revenue and profit. In December 2024, the Group
entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement to
expand the business on developing new energy and renewable
energy and the research and development of new energy
storage technologies used in the industrial and commercial
contexts and the business expected to commence by second
quarter of 2025.

Apart from the above, the management acquired certain
copyright of novel in PRC for producing short video and web
series drama and developing related products. The Group
expected that the short video and web series will commence
by end of 2025 and revenue will be generated to improve
the cashflow. The Group will issue further announcement in
accordance with Listing Rules for further updates on the new
businesses.
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The Board had meetings with the management to explore
options to alleviate the Group’s liquidity pressure. The Directors
have also reviewed the Cashflow Forecast, the Measures and
monitored their progresses from time to time, and are of the
view that given (i) the lenders showed willingness not to demand
an immediate repayment of the existing loans and borrowings
within a reasonable time, (i) certain new business opportunities
materialised in 2025, (i) the cost control strategies was proved
evident given the decrease of 34% in the cost of selling and
distribution and administrative expenses in the year of 2024
as compared with that in the year of 2023, subject to further
successful implementation of the Measures, the revenue and
cash inflows is expected to improve and cost is expected to
reduce in coming years so as to repay debts and replenish the
working capital of the Group. Consequently, the management
considered the going concern issue will be mitigated and
resolved in the upcoming future.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Sang Kanggiao
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A S GRS

@E@Prism

To the shareholders of Smart Digital Technology Group
Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Smart Digital Technology Group Limited (Formerly known as
Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited) (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to
191, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the potential interaction
of the multiple uncertainties relating to going concern and
their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements as described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going
concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$28,382,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024, and as at 31 December
2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net deficit
of approximately HK$685,721,000 and HK$382,018,000
respectively. As at the same date, the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings and film investment loans, derivative financial
liabilities and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$646,710,000 in total, while its
cash and cash equivalents was amounted to approximately
HK$38,826,000 only.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group defaulted on repayment
of certain interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
with principal amounts of approximately HK$611,286,000, and
have a further interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
with principal amounts of approximately HK$35,424,000, which
were repayable within one year. These conditions, together with
other matters disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A S GRS

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(continueq)

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, and to
remediate certain delayed repayments to financial institutions,
which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of these measures, which are subject
to multiple uncertainties, including (i) new sources of finance will
be obtained to support the Group’s operating and financing cash
outflows; (i) re-financing or extensions will be obtained for the
Group’s existing interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities);
(i) the implementation of the Group’s business strategy could
enhance profitability and cash inflows of the Group; and (iv)
the implementation of the Group’s cost control strategies on its
selling, distribution and administrative costs and film investment
expenditures could reduce the cash outflows of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their realisable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor
who expressed a disclaimer opinion on those statements on 28
March 2024.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A S GRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of
our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Fung Shing Bun, Spencer.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Fung Shing Bun, Spencer

Practising certificate number: P0O7451
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FeiEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E-MmE TS &=
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FAT TAT
REVENUE L6 5 40,369 80,336
Cost of sales & B A = (65,234)
Gross profit EF 40,369 15,102
Other income and gains =R PN 5 15,832 9,745
Selling and distribution expenses ~ $HE KD HRE (2,456) (8,344)
Administrative expenses THREX (20,334) (26,094)
Net reversal of impairment/ BSRINHRIE RENEE
(impairment) of trade receivables  JB{E#[E], GE(E) ;$%B
and contract assets 6 4,184 (2,983)
Impairment of film investments B RERE 6 - (896)
Impairment of prepayments, other — FE{J R IE ~ E fh fE U= IE K
receivables and other assets Hth&EERIE 6 - (7,044)
Changes in fair value of financial BATEFAERD
liabilities at fair value through TREBERATESR
profit or loss and derivative BEATFEED
financial liabilities 6 (30,213) (1,311)
Other expenses Hfasz (6,689) (5,837)
Finance costs R A AR 7 (26,744) (22,122)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI BIESIE 6 (26,051) (49,784)
Income tax (expense)/credit i %) % 10 (2,331) 3,910
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAESE (28,382) (45,874)
Attributable to: BT ALREW:
— Owners of the parent —8BAREB A (28,382) (45,720)
- Non-controlling interests —JEERER = (154)
(28,382) (45,874)
LOSS PER SHARE BATEE ARG
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS &R E518
OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted loss per share FRERRIEEBE GB1)
(HKS cents) (28.89) (65.51)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated  BEFT i 51 2 47 & BA TS IR R A — =B o
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEERmR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENE B =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEBE (28,382) (45,874)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE EfthZ2HEE X
Other comprehensive expense that HEHBBOEENEEER Y
may be reclassified to profit or loss in HthaemiEx .
subsequent periods:
- Exchange differences on translation of —RIBEINEFEECERERE
foreign operations, net of nil tax MNBFEZRE (2,355) (1,839)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE R EM2EM% (&)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (2,355) (1,839)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE S AR EZH%E
FOR THE YEAR (30,737) (47,713)
Attributable to: BT ALRER:
— Owners of the parent —BRBEEEA (30,737) (47,560)
— Non-controlling interests —FEER R = (153)
(30,737) (47,713)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RAEMBIRRR

As at 31 December 2024 R_E_ME+_B=+—H

2024 2023
—E-MmE e
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
s FET TAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment LY ERN =Y E 13 21 276
Right-of-use assets HREEE 14 - 1,534
Prepayments, other receivables FBIRIE s EtEWEIE
and other assets REMEE 17 288,581 290,108
Investment in films, television B BEMEX
programs and program rights BB R R E 19 11,653 11,715
Intangible assets mLEE 20 3,448 -
Total non-current assets EFRHEELE 303,703 303,633
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade receivables B 5 EIRIE 16 - 12,006
Prepayments, other receivables FETARIE N B ERIE
and other assets REMEE 17 92,537 97,728
Contract assets BNEE 18 7,696 11,163
Cash and cash equivalents BEKIREEEER 21 38,826 52,003
Total current assets REEEHE 139,059 172,900
CURRENT LIABILITIES Bk A=
Other payables and accruals HtENRIE R EE &R 22 102,971 104,256
Contract liabilities XA 23 37,275 36,581
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEERER
and film investment loans 24 420,629 441,696
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmas 24 40,632 36,984
Financial liabilities at fair value BATFEFAEBRD
through profit or loss SRIBE 25 185,449 196,464
Amount due to a shareholder B —% RIS 31 1,063 1,099
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 - 1,209
Tax payable FEATHRIE 36,761 36,046
Total current liabilities TE B REEE 824,780 854,335
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBEIPE (685,721) (681,435)
HYHHERBRAT —TNFEFR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE MR AR

As at 31 December 2024 R_E_ME+_B=+—H

2024 2023
—E-E e =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FHET FET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT A& ERREaE
LIABILITIES (382,018) (377,802)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY JERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaRs 14 - 448
NET LIABILITIES BEFRE (382,018) (378,250)
EQUITY i
Share capital (&N 26 9,856 82,356
Reserves ] 28 (391,874) (460,100)
Equity attributable to owners BATIERS AREGED
of the parent (382,018) (877,744)
Non-controlling interests JEVER I - (506)
NET DEFICIT S4B %A (382,018) (378,250)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 191 were H73E 101 HEGHHERXBELEHES TN _T
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson _—HE=B _+ /\BHH#LERE#EESEM > AT E

28 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. BERKREZ
Jing Xufeng Sang Kanggiao
=BE RES
Co-chairman Co-chairman
HEFE HEEE

=] SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AEmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ZT _NE+_B=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARMER ARG
Capital Statutory Non-
Share Share redemption reserve Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium* reserve’ fund* reserve’ losses” Sub-total interests Total
BXER AT
& RANEE 4 H#Ee EREE RAER Nt RERER a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEr TE FHr TE F#En TER THn TER TET
(note 26) (note 28) (note 28)
(Fy3£26) (i3£28) (Hi3£28)
At 1 January 2023 RZISZ=%-A-H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 6,505 (982,387) (330,184) (353) (330,537)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (45,720) (45,720) (154) (45,874)
Other comprehensive loss forthe  EAEMAERFE :
year:
Exchange differences on translation ~ RESNEREEZ
of foreign operations, net of niltax ~ EREEE MBTRE - - - - (1,840) - (1,840) 1 (1,839)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ER2EESEAEE - - - - (1,840) (45,720) (47,560) (159) (47,713)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=#+ZRA=+-H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 4,665 (1,028,107) (877,744) (506) (378,250)
Attributable to owners of the parent
BARRAEAERS
Capital Statutory Non-
Share Share  redemption reserve Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital premium* reserve* fund* reserve* losses* Sub-total interests Total
HHEE EE
BE  RiFEE ikt fEd  ERRE  RHER Mt EERED At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET Ti#n TR Ti#n TR Ti#n TR T#n TER
(note 26) (note 28) (note 28)
(Mi3£26) (Hi328) (I5£28)
At 1 January 2024 RIZZME-B—H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 4665  (1,028,107) (377,744) (506) (378,250)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (28,382) (28,382) - (28,382)
Deregistration of subsidliaries HHEMBAR - - - - - - - 506 506
Other comprehensive expense for ~ EREHMZERS
the year:
Exchange differences on translation ~ RHENEBREEZ
of foreign operations, net of niltax ~ EREE > MBTRE - - - - (2,355) - (2,355) - (2,355)
Total comprehensive expense for — FR2ERZ AL
the year - - - - (2,355) (28,382) (30,737) 506 (30,231)
Issue of shares BIRM 16,200 10,263 - - - - 26,463 - 26,463
Capital reorganisation BAEA (88,700) 88,700 - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2024 RIZ-ME+ZA=+-B 9,856 655,741 1,564 5,000 2310 (1,056,489) (382,018) - (382,018)

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other

reserves of negative balances of HK$391,874,000 (2023:
HK$460,100,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

3 IEHERDEFRAEVBRARPHNGEEMERE
& 4582391,874,00058 75 (Z & =~ =4 : 460,100,000
BIT) °
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows
FRIHEMER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF B =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 FET TAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING &£ HERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRI AIES1E (26,051) (49,784)
Adjustments for: BB IERE
- Finance costs —RE A 26,744 22,122
- Bank interest income —R1TFI B WA (134) )
— Write back of other payables — H hfE{T =R IE#E O] (3,010) (2,527)
— Gain on disposal of items of —HEYE-BEK
property, plant and equipment REEE W = (498)
— Fair value losses/(gains), net: —AFEEBE (k) P
Derivative financial liabilities ETmas 3,836 23,176
Financial liabilities at fair value BATFESABRN
through profit or loss B =N 26,377 (21,865)
— Depreciation of property, — ¥ BERREBITE
plant and equipment 255 533
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FEREEEITE 755 1,899
Loss on de-registration of SEEHM B A B 2 K518
subsidiaries 2,735 S
Amortisation of copyright licenses KR 5F B = # 5 1,414 -
Gain/Loss on Early termination right- 1Z2R14R IEF RS E K
of-use assets and lease liabilities HEaBEzWE &8 (227) -
Waive of Interest payable NERENAHE (6,249) -
Gain on disposal of HERRAEST A 2 W i
copyright licenses (4,720)
— Amortisation of investment in — B BRHNBEK
films, television programs and &1 B R ERE 2 i
program rights - 65,234
— Net reversal of impairment/ —BSRHRRIERENEE
(impairment) of trade receivables BEREE, (RE) F2E
and contract assets (4,184) 2,983
— Impairment of film investments —BERERE - 896
— Impairment of prepayments, other — a1 FIE « Efth UL IE
receivables and other assets REMEERE - 7,044
17,541 49,207

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Consolidated statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—ENE T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET TAT
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 W IER L ()
receivables 11,834 (8,650)
Decrease in prepayments, other AT RIE ~ EMEWRRIE K
receivables and other assets Hah&EERb 2,225 2,773
Decrease/(increase) in contract BHREERD (8N
assets 6,897 (10,359)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Efth & I8 & FE=t & A
and accruals 1, Geisb) 1,781 (13,380)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERL = (27,986)
Cash generated from/(used in)  #&E&FR1S (FRA) Z
operations RE 40,278 (8,395)
Income taxes paid EfFTER (544) (681)
Net cash generated from/(used (& 23RS (FiA) 2
in) operating activities REBEE 39,734 (9,076)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEZHEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BUH B 134 6
Purchases of copyright licenses FE B R ST Al 20 (20,858) =
Proceeds from disposal of copyright H & i e &F 7] Fr 1§ =0 I8
licenses 20,641 -
Loss on deregistration of =l NGl S
subsidiaries (2,229) -
Purchases of items of property, plant BEE#)% R B HEEE
and equipment 13 - (14)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ HEYE F’h ERSEER
property, plant and equipment P8 RT - 112
Net cash (used in)/generated REEE (FRA) FrT
from investing activities ZIREBEE (2,312) 104

SHHERERFRAT —T_MEFR T



Consolidated statement of Cash Flows
FRIHEMER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF B =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 FET TAT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RIEE¥HEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Issue of shares upon share placing 7SR5 o & R 2517 IR 1D 26,463 =
Repayment of interest-bearing BEFEEERBERE
borrowings and film investment =
loans (39,783) (49,321)
Proceeds from new financial liabilities ¥ 1% #% A FEst A8 HY
at fair value through profit or loss THEEEMIE
raised - 34,809
Repayment of financial liabilities at ~ EE & A FEt ABEH
fair value through profit or loss B = (36,365) (1,766)
Lease rental paid ENEEHRES (682) (2,074)
Net cash used in financing MEEEFRBZREFEE
activities (50,367) (18,352)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RNERREEHEEBEEHFPLD
CASH EQUIVALENTS B (12,945) (27,324)
Cash and cash equivalents at FMZRERFAEEEHEE
beginning of year 52,003 79,420
Effect of foreign exchange rate EEEBMRZ B8
changes, net (232) (93)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZRAERFAEEEHIER
end of year 38,826 52,003
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERAEEEEH
OF CASH AND CASH SEERo
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BE& KMIR1THE G 21 38,826 52,003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated  FEMIIEE A4 S BIFEREN —Z 45 o
financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Smart Digital Technology Group Limited & #&
EE B A B (Formerly known as Starlight Culture
Entertainment Group Limited EX X CIZEEFERA
&) (the “Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company has been
changed from Room 1002, 10th Floor, China Huarong
Tower, 60 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong to
Room 1201, 12th Floor, 1111 King’s Road, Taikoo Shing,
Hong Kong with effect from 1 March 2024.

During the year and up to 31 December 2024, the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were involved
in the media and culture business.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the single largest shareholder of the Company
is Timcha Investment Limited (“Timcha”), a company
wholly owned by Iz EEXEEHEFRAT (Jiangyin
Starlight Communications Co., Ltd.*), a limited company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
In the opinion of the Directors, as of 31 December 2024
the Company had no single controlling shareholder.

1.

QNEREREH

LHRREERRRE (BB E bR %k
EBERRE) ((ARF)) EEREFMAIL
A—REREERABDERERONREEHS
RBBERAT (TBZFRY) £ A QB FEM
MERKTESEMM M -2 - MWE
—B—BHEBREAEFSTIIECoTHEHE
MAEI0OBI002EF A AT AAGTHEERE
1111581211201 = ©

NARXEEREE _E_NE+_/B=+—
B ARBEIKRERBAR (AER) REEE
B XA EEFS o

ARBIEFE ((EF)RBR FRBZ2E—K
ARRARAKRERRAR (TFAL > —fEH
IREBXEEEARAR (RPEARHEMN
(THHE) EMRINBRAR) 2EHA
ZRE) " EEFRABE_ET_NME+TA
=+—H AABDUEE—IERRR -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1. ARIREREH »

B ABERN

AATZTEWBATEENT :

follows:
Place of incorporation/  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Name registration and business registered share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
218 M HRREEME BRTLERS ERRE FATELRER 2 TEER
Direct Indirect
Ef ifE
Surin Development Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")  US$1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
HBEUHS BERIET REER
(EBEZEE))
Starry Ample Limited BV US$1 ordinary share S 100%  Film investments
HBEUHS BERIET BEXRE
Beautiful Asia Limited BVI US$1 ordinary share - 100%  Film investments
HEEYEHE BER1ZERT BEXRE
IREFEXCEEBRAE  PRC HK$100,000,000 - 100%  Media and movie operations
(Jiangyin Xing Kong Culture registered capital
Communication Co., Ltd.)**
IBREENEERERAT* FE &% & #100,000,0007% 7T BERETER
Star Media International Limited Republic of Seychelles US$1 ordinary shares - 100%  Film investments
EEHHENE BER1ZET EXRE
Starlight Legend Investment Republic of Seychelles US$100 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
Limited
ETHHENE BBR100%ETT REER
Starlight Media Inc. USA US$1,000,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Media and movie operations
EEi| &38/%1,000,000% 7 BERETER
Starlight Culture Entertainment  USA US$1,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Media and movie operations
Limited
e EER1,000ET BERETER
* BTN LEEARAT (Jiangyin Xing Kong Culture * IREENILEEERADBREREEEF

Communication Co., Ltd.) is registered as a wholly-foreign
owned enterprise under PRC law.

4 The English name of the entity registered in the PRC i
represents the best efforts made by the management of the
Company to translate its Chinese name as the entity does
not have an official English name. The English translation of

the name is for identification purposes only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities
which have been measured at fair value. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$28,382,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024, and as of 31 December
2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net deficit
of approximately HK$685,721,000 and HK$382,018,000
respectively. As at the same date, the Group’s interest-
bearing borrowings and film investment loans, derivative
financial liabilities and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to approximately
HK$646,710,000, while its cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$38,826,000 only.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group defaulted on
repayment of certain interest-bearing borrowings and film
investment loans (including those classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities) with principal amounts of approximately
HK$611,286,000, and have a further interest-bearing
borrowings and film investment loans (including those
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial liabilities) with principal amount
of approximately HK$35,424,000 which were repayable
within one year. All these events or conditions indicate the
existence of multiple material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

B
EUER

REVMBBRRNDEREBISMAE (1B
SEEIAE)) EHRNEBYHRE G ER
(IEBMBREER)) (BEMEEBYH
WREEN-FBEHER (EBEER ) K
2R REBATRAZIKEREMRR &
FRAMBRRIDUBELRABEORR  IE
BAFEFABRGNEREERITESRT
BARNTESE-BRRARERHEN REWH
BRDBUBT2IRFIEBEEMNERAR
RIBA TR

FTREER=R

AEEBREE_S_WNE+_A=+—H1L
FEEELEEFEE28,382,0008 T KR ZE
THHE+ZR=+—H XEBZAHERE
FERA RS AR RE D P40 45685,721,00078 T &
382,018,000 - KRB H  AEBZFEME
ERBEFREER - TTETREBREAT
Bt ABmENEMEa AR5 4%4646,710,000
Brx MEERESRBEEEEEBELNS
38,826,000 7T ©

R_E_NE+_B=+—H ' xEBHEX
BERELEELNA611,286,0008 T 25 Tt B
BENEFKEER BESEABRATE
ABmHTREERTEERAER)  BER
$ R 535,424,000 T2 st EEERER
CEER (BESEARATEFAEENE
MEEATEEMERE) BN —FRERZE M
BZEEHYIBERB N EELEEATHEM
REZ > AJEHAEERFELCEENBREKR
Ef o
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

In view of these circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group'’s cash
flow projections prepared by management, which covers a
period of at least 18 months from 31 December 2024. The
following plans and measures are formulated to mitigate
the liquidity pressure, to improve the financial position of
the Group, and to remediate the overdue repayments to
the lenders:

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq) 2. EBEw
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 RUERE »
Going concern assumption (continued) FELERRE @

ERLtaER e EEEERSHENE

ki

TRECENREMBFERK EFEEE

ERAEENRKABESTRERBEURATH
RUBER - ARBDEFEEREEBHRE
NAEERRERERA ZHAREE _-F
“HE+ZRB=+—HEEMDI8ERZH
i o NEE B 25T T 5 51 8 K 38 i UAR AR R
HETBRN AEFEENHUBRIKBLR
BABRAERETHI

(@ The Group has been actively negotiating with all of (@ AEE—EBRBEPMAREAREER
the lenders for renewal and extension for repayments EFAEER B EETER MR A E
of the overdue borrowings to reduce the liquidity B REEEE
pressure of the Group.

(b) The Group has also been negotiating with various b) XEET—BHBEXETRAMESL RE

financiers and potential investors of the film industry
to secure new sources of finance and identifying
various options for financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable future.
The Directors believe that, considering the Group’s
track record of film investments and relationship
with famous film directors, the Group will be able to
obtain new financing.

(c) The Group will continue to implement business
strategy to enhance the Group’s profitability and cash
inflows.

(d) The Group will continue to take active measures
to control costs and prioritise film investments
expenditures so as to improve the Group’s cash
outflows.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecast prepared by management which covers a period
of eighteen months from the end of the reporting period.
They are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors believe
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans
and measures as described above which incorporate
assumptions about future events and conditions that are
subject to inherent uncertainties. Whether the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern for a period of
eighteen months from the end of the reporting period
would depend upon the following:

(@) New sources of finance will be obtained to support
the Group’s operating and financing cash flows;

(b) Re-financing or extensions will be obtained for the
Group’s existing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities);

(c) The Group’s business strategy will be implemented
effectively; and

(d) The Group’s cost control strategies on its selling,
distribution and administrative costs and film
investment expenditures will be implemented
effectively.

2.

21

TR =
EREE o

BHEBRERSR ®

EECEREEERENREERSHRIE
TNERMENAERRERERR -KF
By st EHE BRI AEBRER
RTEREEES AIHAENRARNRKAEE
HRERHEESRBITHIBNMBHEE -
At EEBRRFTELCEEERRLER
BE_Z_ME+_A=+—HLEERS
MBRRBEE -

BEWIL  AEEESER LR8I MG

(HPEEEREATEEMRRIRKSE
HFRARBRR) MEEERTEEME K&
BTSN REPERRT/\BR RBEFEL
ERBORR TIIEE :

(@) EEFHNRERRUZFHEERRBRE
RERE ;

b) MEERREEERBEEREER (B

BROEABAFTEFAEaNERE R

RiTEEmEaR) BISBRENIER ;

) BUEmAEENEFRRE; &
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2.

21

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
may have to be made to write down the carrying values
of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continuea)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, carrying
amounts of non-controlling interests and cumulative
exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2.2
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards for the
first time for the current year’s consolidated financial
statements, which are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning on 1 January 2024

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024
and have not been early adopted in these consolidated
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised HKFRS Accounting standards, if applicable, when

they become effective.

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19
Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 117

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?®

Subsidliaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures?®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,

2025

- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2026

£ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2027

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the
application of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of

the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE -2 _M&E+_A=+—HIL&E

FEHEE @

24 EXEFHE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(a)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

Level 2 -

Level 3 -

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than contract assets, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a potion of the carrying amount of
a corporate assets (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

(continueq)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;
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2. B:HE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(©)

or

Related parties (continuea)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group; and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plans;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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HETEER =
24 EXETHE @

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(d) Property, plant and equipment and d) ME-BERREARITE

depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used are as
follows:

Furniture and fixtures 25%

Office equipment 25%

Motor vehicles 30

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(d) Property, plant and equipment and

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

depreciation (continuead)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at the end of each of the reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Investment in films, television
programs and program rights

Investment in films and television programs includes
the unamortised costs of completed films and
television programs which have been produced or
acquired by the Group.

For films and television programs produced by the
Group, capitalised costs include all direct production
costs, production overheads and capitalised
interest. Costs of program rights comprise fees
paid and payable under agreements, direct costs/
expenses incurred during the production of films,
and fees for the reproduction and/or distribution
of films. Production overheads include allocated
costs of individuals or departments with exclusive or
significant responsibility for production of fims and
excludes printing and advertising costs.
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2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(e)

Investment in films, television
programs and program rights (continuea)

Investment in films, television programs and program
rights is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment loss. The Group amortises its costs
based on the proportion of projected revenue income
over the life of a film/television program. Any portion
of the unamortised amount that appears not to
be recoverable is impaired in the period the loss
becomes evident.

Investment in films, television programs and program
rights is stated at the lower of amortised cost and
estimated fair value. The valuation of investment
in films, television programs and program rights,
whether released or unreleased, is reviewed on
a title-by-title basis, when an event or change in
circumstances indicates that the fair value of a
film or television program is less than its carrying
amount. In determining the fair value of its film and
television program, the Group generally employs
a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) methodology that
includes cash flow estimates of a film’s ultimate
revenue and costs as well as a discount rate. The
discount rate utilised in the DCF analysis is based on
the weighted average cost of capital of the Group
plus a risk premium representing the risk associated
with producing a particular film or television program.
The fair value of any film costs associated with a
film or television program that management plans to
abandon is zero. Impairment loss is recorded in the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated fair value of the film or television program.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(f)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Intangible assets
Copyright licenses of content

Copyright licenses of content purchased from
writers are initially recognised and measured at
costs. Copyrights of contents acquired in a business
combination are recognised initially at fair value
at the acquisition date. Copyrights of contents
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful economic lives of 18 months to 6
years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

(i)  Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying
assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(9) Leases (continuea)

(i)  Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at
the commencement date of the lease
(that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers
to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life
of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(9) Leases (continuea)

(i)  Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments)
and also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(9) Leases (continuea)

()

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of office equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Investments and other financial assets

()

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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2. B:HE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

()

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages
its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(h) Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

(1)

(i)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial
assets depends on their classification as
follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass
through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2. B:HE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(h)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

(ifi) Derecognition of financial assets
(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights
to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Impairment of financial assets
(continueq)

()

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z _ZE _ &+ _"H=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)
() Impairment of financial assets
(continueq)

()

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply
the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial
recognition and for which the
loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for
which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial
recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs
Financial assets that are credit
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

() Impairment of financial assets
(continueq)

(1)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets
that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

() Financial liabilities

()

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially
at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other
payables, interest-bearing borrowings and film
investment loans, derivative financial liabilities,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and amount due to a shareholder.
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ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FHHBE®
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 S XE:HEE »
(continueq)
() Financial liabilities (continued) () =REaER®
(i)  Subsequent measurement (i) HEE

The subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities depends on their classification as
follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied.
Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss, except for the gains or losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

() Financial liabilities (continued)

()

(i)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
(other payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, other payables and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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FHE @

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

Financial liabilities (continued)
(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right
to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits
with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(m) Frfei

(m) Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(m) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(m) FR15IR &=

(m) Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each of the reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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FEEE @

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(n) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

(o) Revenue recognition

(i)  Revenue from contracts with
customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services
is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes
a variable amount, the amount of consideration
is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods
or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(o) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)  Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue from films

Revenue from films is recognised at
the later of when the subsequent sale
or usage of the royalties occurs, and
when the performance obligation to
which some or all of the sales-based or
usage based royalty has been allocated
has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
The actual amounts due to the Group
under these arrangements are generally
not reported to the Group until after
the close of the reporting period. The
Group records revenue under these
arrangements for the amounts due but
not yet reported to the Group based on
estimates of the sales or usage of the
royalties and pursuant to the terms of
the contracts. Such estimates are based
on information from the statement of
net receipt, historical experience with
similar genres in that market or territory,
the performance of the genres in other
markets, and/or data available in the
industry.

Consulting service income
Consulting service income is recognised
when the related services are rendered.
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FEEE @

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(0)

()
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Revenue recognition (continuead)
(i)  Revenue from other sources

(@) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on an
accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group renders services to a customer before
being unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that
is conditional. Contract assets are subject to
impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment
of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or the payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group renders the
related services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

(0)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

2. GxtHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

()

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which
operates in Chinese Mainland are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. The subsidiary
is required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate outside Hong Kong and PRC are covered by
other defined-contribution pension plans sponsored
by the government of their respective country of
residence. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the
pension schemes.

For each of the two financial years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024, there was no forfeited
contribution under the MFF Scheme and the other
defined contribution retirement benefit plans of the
Group which may be used by the Group to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(s)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Borrowing costs

All interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

(s)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —_ZE _NFE+_F=+—HIEFE
HETEER =
24 EXEFHE =

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continueq)

(u) Foreign currencies (continued) () M =

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FHHBE®

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 S XE:HEE »
(continueq)
(u) Foreign currencies (continued) () M@=

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than Hong Kong
dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that
the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of foreign operations, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

(@ Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Going concern assumptions

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimations,
management has prepared the consolidated financial
statements on the assumption that the Group will be
able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumptions involve making judgements
by the Directors, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The Directors consider that
the Group has the ability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions, that
may individually or collectively cast significant doubt
on the going concern assumptions, are disclosed in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continueq)

(b) Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.

(i)  Revenue from films

Revenue from films is recognised at the later
of when the subsequent sale or usage of the
royalties occurs, and when the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales
based or usage-based royalty has been
allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied). The actual amounts due to the
Group under these arrangements are generally
not reported to the Group until after the close
of the reporting period. The Group records
revenue under these arrangements for the
amounts due but not yet reported to the Group
based on estimates of the sales or usage of
the royalties and pursuant to the terms of
the contracts. Such estimates are based on
information from the statement of net receipt,
historical experience with similar genres in that
market or territory, the performance of the
genres in other markets, and/or data available
in the industry.

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEGHHEREST @

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continueq)

(b) At FAEERER @
(i) FEZMMEERE

(b) Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

(i) Impairment of non-financial asset

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for all non financial
assets at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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3. FEFHAE KRGS @

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continueq)

(b) Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

(itf)

(iv)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Impairment of investment in films,
television programs and program
rights

The costs of investment in films, television
programs and program rights are amortised
upon the release of a film/television program
based on the proportion of projected revenue
over the life of the film/television program.
Any portion of the unamortised amount that
appears not to be recoverable is impaired in
the period when the loss becomes evident.
The recoverable amounts are determined
with reference to the marketability of each
of the films and television programs, and the
current market conditions. These estimated
recoverable amounts can change significantly
due to various factors. This could have an
impact on the Group’s results of operations.
Details of investment in films, television
programs and program rights, and the key
assumptions applied in the calculation of
recoverable amounts, are disclosed in note 19
to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurement of financial
liabilities

The fair value of financial liabilities measured
at level 3 fair value, which include financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial liabilities, requires
significant assumptions and estimates,
including estimating the future revenue from
films and determining appropriate discount
rates and other assumptions. Changes in
these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the respective fair values of
these financial liabilities. Details of the key
assumptions used and the impact of changes
to these assumptions are disclosed in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continueq)

(b) Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

(v) Provision for expected credit losses
on trade receivables and contract
assets

The loss allowances of trade receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default, expected loss rates and
forward-looking information. Management uses
judgements in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the calculation, based
on the past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking information at the
end of each of the reporting period. Details
of the key assumptions used are disclosed in
notes 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services
and has only one reportable operating segment which
is the media and culture business segment, of which it
engages in investment in the production and distribution
of entertainment content such as films and television
programs.

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision-makers in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.
The information reported to the Directors, who are the
chief operating decision-makers, for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of performance
does not contain discrete operating segment financial
information and the Directors reviewed the financial results
of the Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information
about the operating segment is presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

The Group mainly operates in USA, Hong Kong and
the PRC, and the geographical segment information as
required by HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” is presented

as follows:

(@) Revenue from external customers

®)

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

4,

KENEEFE @

HEHE

AERFENEE BEERPELE FEY

B G ER B EE DT

MM :

(@) XKESEIEFERZ W a

PIRENMEDE

2024 2023
—E-WE =
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&x FET
USA 40,369 80,336
The revenue information above is based on the Lt E RS ERE R PTEM o
location of the customers.
Non-current assets b) FETEEE
2024 2023
—EMmE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAET
USA 289,686 292,109
Hong Kong 3,450 900
293,136 293,009

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excluded other

receivables and deposits.

FHIERBEEE R AR EEPEM
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESHEHE @
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers BEHETEZTRZER
Revenue from major customers individually amounting REEMNEAEEERTZAI0NNEERS
to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is set out N =& -
below:
2024 2023
—E@mEF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Customer A ZEA 26,197 70,529
Customer B ZEB 7,309 8,298
Customer C ZRAC 6,863 N/AZ 38 A
40,369 78,827
These customers did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 ZERRRBE_ZE”_=%+"H=+—H
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December LEAF B R A B B AR U 2 4811 0% ©
2023.
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. Yrzz ~ HAthUg A B Uz
GAINS
Revenue from contracts with customers kXEBEREHNZWE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) Dl SN
2024 2023
—E-NE =E—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&x FET
Revenue from films generated REEETIZEER Z W
from USA market, and RE RS
recognised at a point in time 40,369 80,336
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. Yrzs - HAthUg A B U as 4
GAINS (continueq)
Revenue from contracts with customers XEEREHNZWE @&
(continueq)
(b) Performance obligations (b) EBHEFE

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts of
transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations expected to be recognised
as revenue within one year and over one year
are approximately HK$21,423,000 (2023:
HK$10,873,000) and HK$16,397,000 (2023:

HK$8,640,000), respectively.

AZECmEFZA=T

&)

—H 2

EHBREBEBNETEERN —EFEAR—F
BEIABNENRZEBRSED
#7421,423,0008 0 (ZE =& :
10,873,000 75) % 16,397,000 7T (=

T =4F . 8,640,000 7T) ©

Other income and gains Hfth s A K Uk 2
2024 2023
—EMmE —E_=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Consulting service income BRI A 598 3,998
Bank interest income IRITH S UA 134 6
Foreign exchange gains, net PE 2 Ui s JFEE - 1,085
Waiver of interest payable MBS 6,249 =
Write back of other payables H At A& (S IR ] 3,010 2,527
Refund of rental deposit BOMERE 242 =
Gain on Early termination right-of-use  RFIRIEFRAEEEK
assets and lease liabilities HEaGEZ W= 227 =
Gain on disposal of copyright licenses — H & R # &F 7] = W & 4,720 =
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE -HMEKMREEEZ
plant and equipment W - 498
Others HAth 652 1,631
15,832 9,745
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in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. PR#AIESE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ NEBMBRRMATGEEL LN GIA) UTH
(crediting): TRBIER !
2024 2023
—ZTomE — oo
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B zE TF#ET TR
Amortisation of investment in fims, B - BREHE&EHE
television programs and program HR#EIE 2 HiH
rights 19 - 65,234
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ B E KRB HITE
equipment 13 255 588!
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFAEEEITE 14(a) 755 1,899
Lease payments not included in the Kt ATHEEEEN
measurement of lease liabilities GEN=ENEN 14(c) 108 439
Amortisation of intangible assets mEESH 20 1,414 -
Loss on de-registration of subsidiaries =t} & A& 2 518 2,735 -
Auditor’s remuneration Z BN & 1,330 1,880
Employee benefit expense EBEERNEZ FEE
(excluding directors’ and chief BEERFETH
executive’s remuneration (note 8)): ANEZ#B (fzE8)) :
— Wages and salaries —TENRHE 4,336 5,029
— Pension scheme contributions —IRIRETEIHR 88 99
Total #a 5t 4,424 5,128
Net (Reversal of impairment)/ ERMNEHNEE (BE
impairment of financial and #[0) REFEE
contract assets:
— (Reversal of impairment)/impairment — & 5 FEUFUE CRIE
of trade receivables, net B0 RE > FEE 16 (632) 646
— (Reversal of impairment)/impairment —&41E E GRl{E
of contract assets, net #E) RE FEE 18 (3,552) 2,337
Total #ast (4,184) 2,983
Impairment of film investments BYRERE 19 - 896
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  FBJ 318 ~ EfthEURFIE
of prepayments, other receivables R EAME ERE
and other assets (Rl {E#[E]) 17 - 7,044
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NEEER/ ()
=R
- Derivative financial liabilities —-TEEmas 24 3,836 23,176
— Financial liabilities at fair value — B AFEFFAERN
through profit or loss Bl =L 25 26,377 (21,865)
Total 4 st 30,213 il Gils
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MEMASTWT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings stEEEMREBEFREERHE
and film investment loans 26,713 22,033
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) FEEEFE (f5E14(b)) 31 89
26,744 22,122
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EERFETHAEM

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Wi EHRA - FRABRTFRHISE383(1)(a)
o) O RMFEURRAE EEEMmER) R
PIFBBMBZAFEEEFREBITHRAERZ
BT

2024 2023
—E-ME B =

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#&x FET

Fees we 1,150 1,143

Other emoluments: HiN % -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMMREYRET

in kind 4,774 3,546

Discretionary bonuses FETEAT - -

Pension scheme contributions BIREHEHRR 54 15

Sub-total INE 4,828 3,561

Total 485 5,978 4,704
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EERFEITHAEHM =

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

BWIIFRITES

(@ Independent non-executive directors (@

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

during the year were as follows:

FFEEMNBIFRNTESTZAEEN
B

2024 2023
—E-ME 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TET
Mr. Niu Zhongjie (Appointed on 488244 (W_E_=4F
15 September 2023) NB+EHEZD 155 39
Mr. Wu Hongliang (Appointed RRERE R =
on 2 March 2023) ZAZHEZRMD 240 199
Mr. Xu Zhihao (Appointed on BRESERE WZZ2Z=F
15 September 2023) NEA+HEHEZD 155 39
Mr. Jing Xufeng (Redesignated ~ SBIELE (R-E-_=£F
to executive director on —B_HAEARITES)
2 March 2023) - -
Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak MPAELEYE (WMIZE=F
(Resigned on 20 September NEZ+HE&D
2023) - 193
Mr. Wong Wai Kwan (Resigned  EEREHLE (R T _=F
on 20 September 2023) NBEZ+HED = 193
Total st 550 663

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2023: nil).

FEEMERMBIUIFATES ZHM
M (CEZ=F ) -

BERKEBRRART —ET_NFFER
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8. EFERFETHAEFHM =

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

b)) RITEFREETHRAL

executive
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e Rk Bk
ik EMEH BIRTEAL SRR Efaast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTET FET FET FET FET
2024 —E-mE
Executive directors:  $A{TESE :
Mr. Sang Kanggjiao ZREERE - - - - -
Mr. Tang Liang iy e - - - - -
Ms. Wu Xiaoli SNk 240 1,400 - 18 1,658
Mr. Hu Fanghui A IELE 120 562 - 36 718
Mr. Jing Xufeng =BIRLE 240 - - - 240
Sub-total INEF 600 1,962 - 54 2,616
Chief executive: FETHRAS:
Mr. Luo Lei BELE - 2,812 - - 2,812
Total 4B 600 4,774 - 54 5,428
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EERFETHAEHM »
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continueq)
(b) Executive directors and the chief b) MITESERETEITHAE @
executive (continued)
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e R R RR
itk BWER RIBTEAL SRR AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET AT TET TAT
2023 —EF=
Executive directors: BITESE:
Mr. Sang Kanggjiao ZEBEE - = = = e
Mr. Tang Liang BEiE - - = = -
Ms. Wu Xiaoli SN o 240 - - - 240
Mr. Hu Fanghui BT AE (1
(Appointed on —E=
15 September 2023) hB+HH
EEM) - 160 - 6 166
Mr. Jing Xufeng SIS (7°
(Redesignated from —EF=
independent non =B _H:#A
executive director on (EN=FhviE]S
2 March 2023) HITESR) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Chau Chit (Retredon B ET 50 (7°
15 September 2023) T =
NB+EH
BAE) - 120 - 9 129
Mr. Zhou Jingbo (Resigned & &7 S8 4 (7%
on 2 March 2023) T =
=H_H
B E) - - - - -
Sub-total /INEE 480 280 - 15 775
Chief executive: FETHAE:
Mr. Luo Lei BERE - 3,266 - - 3,266
Total HaEt 480 3,546 - 15 4,041
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

8. EFERFETHAEFHM =

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

executive (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no director or chief executive waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments. No emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company
or chief executive as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

The Group has been providing accommodation,
which is leased from a third party, to Mr. Luo Lei
at no charge. The estimated money value of the
benefits in kind is nil (2023: HK$199,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEE 9. hxEmaHMES

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBRARESFMALTH MBEABEAQE
Group, two were the directors and one chief executive ZEER—ZBETBETHAE (CE_=ZF —
of the Company (2023: one chief executive) whose LEETHAL)  EFHFMET A LXK sEs
emoluments are included in the disclosures set out in note FIEiigEeid Tma (CEZ=F: @%) AL
8 above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2023: BETBN T

four) individuals were as follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TATT
Salaries, allowances and e RMABEYER
benefits in kind 1,054 SRS
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAL - -
Pension scheme contributions RRETEHRR 35 54
Total Bt 1,089 3172
The number of abovementioned highest paid employees TiESHFNEENFEUTHELEN A
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as wr
follows
Number of employees
EEAH
2024 2023
—E_NE —_FT=
Nil = HK$1,000,000 2= 31,000,000 7T 2 4
Total st 2 4
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, HE_ T NEN_EBE"_=F+"_HB=+—
none of the five highest paid employees waived or agreed HIEFEE #iEASEsiNESERERR
to waive any remuneration, and no remuneration was paid ERERAME AEBTERAESLES H
by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees MESZNEAMES  (FABEBREREMASR
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EENBENMARERR ZREIFERBER
compensation for loss of office. {8 o
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10.

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, BVI and
Seychelles, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
Bermuda, BVI and Seychelles.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits in Hong
Kong for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been
made as the subsidiaries in the PRC did not generate
any assessable profits in the PRC for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The subsidiaries in USA are subject to Federal Corporate
Tax and State Income Tax. The federal corporate tax rate
was 21% and the state income tax rate was 7% for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

10. FRi#%
BEERE HABELHERESHOR

RIGHB FREBEREMERE
SEhETBHEMMER -

N Ve

HRAEERSE_T_NER-E "=
+ZA=+—BLEFEUEREBELEREW
ERR @) I EIFHEBFSREE -

HRPERBATNBEE_T _MFR_
=+ ZR=+— E&EEI#H’EEPIE

EEMBRRIET > A EWIEH PR SRR
SR

SE MY /B A B) R B B R b AR RN PR 1S
M- RBE_Z_MER_ETE_=ZF+-A1

=+—BIFE BBEERER21%RINF
BRERT%-

2024 2023
—EFmEF —B-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAERT FAT
USA ES

— Current tax —BIEAIRIE 2,331 262
— Over-provision in prior years — B FEBREEE - (4,172)

Total income tax expense/(credit) FERNFAEREY (E%) 48758
for the year 2,331 (8,910)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

10. FR1G1R @

REBMEXFENREBRAES (ER) B
SHBEZEBRINT ¢

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation between income tax expense/(credit) and
accounting loss at applicable tax rates are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-MmE F TS

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Loss before tax FRIQAIES I8 (26,051) (49,784)

Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate  3ZEEMRETEMNIRIE 868 (11,407)

Expenses not deductible for ENGIERE o 52

tax purpose 8,496 11,140

Over-provision in prior years B FEEBREE A - (4,172
Unused tax losses and temporary KR Z RENBRIEEE X

difference not recognised ERFEEE 3,782 1,780
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRI RER Z RIEEIE

not recognised (10,815) (1,251)

Income tax expense/(credit) Fri8MpEx~ (E%) 2,331 (3,910)

11. DIVIDENDS 11. R 2

12.

No dividend has been paid or declared during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The Directors do
not recommend the payment of any final dividends for the
years ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
amounts is based on loss for the year attributable to
owners of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 98,246,644 (2023: 82,356,479) in issue
during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

12.

BE_BE_MER_B_=ZF+"_HA=+—
HEFETERKIHEREARE -EFL
FEBRNEE_SE_NE+"_A=+—H
EFEEZERARBRE (CE=ZF 18 -

BAR#E ARLERER

EREARBEEEBELNREZSIADES
ANELEEBBEUAMEREHTHZT AR
N 898,246,64488 (ZE - =
82,356,4795%) st & o

BE_BE_MEAREB_=—F+_A=1—
AEFE AEBTECSXTEEREES

Bz e
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12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12.

TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

(continueq)

The calculations of the basic and

diluted loss per share are

BABRREARGERER @

BREANBEEBZSAENREUTEIE:

based on:
2024 2023
—_E-NF —EF_=
Loss attributable to owners BAREE ABGEIE

of the parent (HK$’'000) BT (28,382) (45,720)
Weighted average number of ARt EERERK

ordinary shares in issue during BEEBIR FANBE

the year used in the basic and MREEEE

diluted loss per share calculation . 98,246,644 82,356,479
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAKREEEE GBW)

(HK$ cents) (28.89) (565.51)
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the MEFEANGEEREARBEGEND
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share for both years i A 01 F 9 B E R IR §§26(b) FriE iR —
have been adjusted for the consolidation of shares on 23 Z_MELtAZH=HETHRNBEHIEH
July 2024 as disclosed in note 26(b). FHEL o

n
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ME - -BERHE
EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment are as ME- -BERZEZSHWT !
follows:
Furniture and Office Motor
fixtures equipment vehicles Total
FILREE MAERE RE 4zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FERT FET
At 1 January 2024: K-E-_m&E-R—H:
Cost DFN 904 2,565 769 4,238
Accumulated depreciation REITE (847) (2,541) (574) (3,962)
Net carrying amount RERE 57 24 195 276
At 1 January 2024, net of RZE-ME—F—H>

accumulated depreciation MNRREHTE 57 24 195 276
Additions AE - - - -
Disposals HE - - - -
Depreciation provided during the year (note R 3R 2 & (i:6)

6) (49) (1) (195) (255)
Exchange realignments ERREE - - - -
At 31 December 2024, net of accumulated R —E — &+ —-B=1+—H"

depreciation MR REITE 8 13 - 21
At 31 December 2024: RIEMFE+-A=+—R"

Cost B 904 2,565 769 4,238
Accumulated depreciation REITE (896) (2,552) (769) (4,217)
Net carrying amount REZE 8 13 - 21

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LI
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as

follows: (continued)

13. ME - -BERSE @

ME- -BERREBEBWT : (@)

Fumniture and Office Motor Leasehold
fixtures equipment vehicles improvements Total
&
BIREE WAERE i MEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TAT TAT TAT
At 1 January 2023: RIE-=%-F-H:
Cost PR 904 2,568 2,485 230 6,187
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (721) (2,537) (1,814) (230) (5,302)
Net carrying amount REFE 183 31 671 - 885
At 1 January 2023, net of RIBZ=%—HA-H’

accumulated depreciation NBREHE 183 31 671 = 885
Additions hE - 14 - - 14
Disposals HE - (1) (86) = 7)
Depreciation provided during the year FREHEZIE (Hzk6)

(note 6) (126) (10 (397) L (533)
Exchange realignments ERHE - - 7 - 7
At 31 December 2023, net of RIBZ=+ZA=1+-H"

accumulated depreciation NBEEHE 57 24 195 = 276
At 31 December 2023: RZBZ=F+°A=+-A: =
Cost PR 904 2,565 769 - 4,238
Accumulated depreciation Rt (847) (2,541) (574) - (3,962)
Net carrying amount REE 57 24 195 - 276

BHHRERARAT —F=
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14. LEASES 14. fHE
The Group as a lessee AEBEAAAA
The Group has lease contracts for various properties used AEBAEBRREEESENSEYENRES
in its operations, which have lease terms between 2 and 5 549 FHEAN FoESE—B= AEE AR
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and TAAERUIIATEERABIBEEE-
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.
(@) Right-of-use assets () EEEESE
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets and the FEREARESE EmAERSHNT
movements during the year are as follows:
Buildings
BF
HK$’000
TET
At 1 January 2023 R-_EBE_=%—H—H 1,631
New leases entered eI E 1,802
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6) F M sHEZ T E (H:56) (1,899)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 W _E2_=F+_B=+—HkK
—EIFE—HF—H 1,634
Waiver of lease obligation RNEEST (779
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6) R sHE 2 #TE (FizE6) (755)
At 31 December 2024 A ZEMFE+"A=+—H =
(b) Lease liabilities b) #HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FR-HEEaEZREERESHNT !
movements during the year are as follows:
2024 2023
T E ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT Tt
At 1 January n—E—H 1,657 1,840
New leases entered eI E - 1,802
Waiver of lease obligation HREHESE (1,006) =
Accretion of interest recognised  ER BB R E (F5E7)
during the year (note 7) 31 89
Payments BN (682) (2,074)
At 31 December BK+=B=+—H - 1,657
Analysed into: DA
— Current portion —menEso - 1,209
— Non-current portion —JEmENE o = 448
- 1,657

SMART DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. 18§ @
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEBEFEAERBA®
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) HEREDBEMBENTENT

leases are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME - ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) FAE&EFE (izE7) 31 89
Depreciation charge of FREEERTESZ L (fi56)
right-of-use assets (note 6) 755 1,899
Expenses relating to short-term  EAfZHRTHE B RIAIFX
leases (included in administrative ~ (Gt AfTERE X (Mi3E6))
expenses (note 6)) 108 439
Total amount recognised in MBI IEARZE
profit or loss 894 2,427
(d) The future cash outflows relating to leases that have (d) BEREHNEEERZAKREBEEME
not yet commenced are disclosed in notes 30(b) to WEN RS M IRERMEEI30(b)

the consolidated financial statements.

BHHBEERARAT —F_NEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

15.

DEFERRED TAX

At 31 December 2024, the Group has not recognised
deferred income tax due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams of the respective group entities. The net
deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) not recognised for
the year end of 2024 and 2023 are nil.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
has tax losses arising from USA of approximately
HK$132,794,000 (2023: approximately HK$167,469,000).
Under the current tax legislation in USA, the unused tax
losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above unused tax losses as it is not probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these
unrecognised unused tax losses can be utilised.
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7T< KERNRIEFMSREE (BB FEA

=
o
=

BHE_Z_WNE+_"_B=+—HLEFE XK
ERNERESERIBEREIEL132,794,000/8 7T

ZE =5 4167,469,0008 7T) 1B
ERRTRBE LM RBANRKREBETE
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES

16. B 5 B TRIE

2024 2023

—E-MmE — e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FATT
Trade receivables B 5 R IE 96,152 111,500
Impairment HE (96,152) (99,494)
Net carrying amount REFE - 12,006

Trade receivables from royalties from films are due when
reported to the Group, and normally settled within one
year. Trade receivables from sales of investment in
television programs and program rights are due based
on the payment schedule specified in contracts. Trade
receivables from other revenue sources are generally due
within one year from the date of provision of services.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice dates or dates
of statement of net receipt, and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:

REBXRMENEZBRRRERE2RTAE
BEAZAEK BERN—FENGER-HESE
REOERHERERENE Z RKRIERE
B XN ETBIRY T TR ET 8 2 HA B U o ELth U 2k
RERNE S BWRIE—RERHERSTE QL
SA—FRIH - AEE Y Er H B 5 B IR
BEBHAERARERRIEMES-BEZE
WRIR A IR IR R A5t S o

REREAR BESRWRIEREZ LRI
MERNGERERHTNBBEREREE ZIRE
DFWME

2024 2023

—E-MmE —EI=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Within 6 month 618 B LLA = 12,006
Total 4B 5t - 12,006
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. B 5 EWFRIE @

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

EZRWRIERENBREEESHINT !

2024 2023

—E-MmE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
At 1 January n—A—H 99,494 101,237
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFEE (HsE6) (632) 646
Exchange realignments BE 2 FH 2 (2,710) (2,389)
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—~H 96,152 99,494

The following factors contributed to the decrease in the
impairment loss recognised during the year:

S Decrease in the lifstime ECL of approximately HK$
632,000 for trade receivables due to the settlement
of trade receivables; and

- Decrease in forward-looking adjustment factor
resulted from change of current market conditions

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region and customer type).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. B S EULFRIE =
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TRV AEBFERBEEREEASENEZE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a WHIENEERBER !

provision matrix:

At 31 December 2024 R-E_mNE+_-_HA=+—H
Past due
bl
Less than 6 to Over
Current 6 months 12 months 12 months Total
BN A 6188 A 6E12{8H8 12884 E st
Expected credit loss rate TEEEREX 5% 10% 50% 100% 100%
Gross amount (HK$'000) fRE (FEr) - - - 96,152 96,152
Expected credit losses FBHEERE
(HK$'000) (F#7T) - - - 96,152 96,152
At 31 December 2023 RS Ssap T B S o-—(F
Past due
bkl
Less than 6to Over
Current 6 months 12 months 12 months Total
ADEA SEE 6E12(88 1288 L £ 4zt
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 5% 10% 50% 100% 89%
Gross amount (HK$'000) B8 () 12,639 = = 98,861 111,500
Expected credit losses BHEERE (TN
(HK$'000) 633 - - 98,861 99,494
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER 17. JA{IFRIE « Hth FEURFRIE R H Ath
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS BE
2024 2023
—E-MmE B =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mk FAT FATT
Prepayments and other assets FENMERAEMEE (a) 18,891 18,835
Impairment allowance HERE (16,250) (16,250)
Sub-total INEE 2,641 2,585
Other receivables and deposits HMEWRIBE R G S (o) 100,463 105,767
Films and television programs B hERMETEN
prepayments TIB (©)
— Prepayments to film directors — AN FEFEEN
I8 183,980 184,953
— Prepayments for investment in —JFANTEF ER
films, television programs and BB REBRERE
program rights HIFRIE 228,211 229,433
412,191 414,386
Impairment allowance AERS (134,177) (134,902)
Sub-total INEt 278,014 279,484
Total HEst 381,118 387,836
Analysed as: SR
Current portion BNEAER 92,537 97,728
Non-current portion JEBPEAER 7 288,581 290,108
Total “Ect 381,118 387,836
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ZT _NE+_B=+—HILFE

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continueq)

Note:

(@)

Prepayments and other assets mainly represent accrued
In 2018, the Group
purchased three TV drama series from third parties. In

input VAT and other prepayments.

connection with the transactions, the purchase amounts
(include input VAT) were fully paid while input VAT
invoices were only partially received with an amount of
HK$19,000,000 being delayed due to the suppliers’ reason.
According to relevant tax rules in the PRC, the suppliers
are required to provide full amount of VAT invoice for the
transactions, and the Group is allowed by tax rule to offset
its output VAT payable upon presenting valid VAT invoice
received from the suppliers. As the input VAT invoices were
long outstanding and the suppliers’ immediate/intermediate
holding companies and the suppliers were being named,
in 2021 and 2022, as “dishonest civil debtors” (5R15#
BTN,
legal documents but did not take action) and “civil debtors”
#FHAITA e,

executing obligations under effective legal documents),

i.e., has capability to execute obligations under

the court ordered to enforce for not

and after taking into account the circumstances, the
management considered that the probability of collection
of the VAT invoices was low. Therefore, the input VAT of
HK$18,894,000 as at 31 December 2021 has been fully
impaired.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, out of the fully
impaired balances of HK$18,894,000, input VAT invoices
of RMB39,000,000(equivalent to HK$44,136,000) with 6%
tax rate are received and verified by the tax bureau, and
therefore the impairment previously recorded are reversed.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no further input
VAT invoices are received, and therefore no reversal of
impairment is reassessed.

17. gﬁ'-ﬁ'lﬁ « H {th FE U 7h

R 15 Bz Hth

E @

B sk

BEREBERAEMEEEBIERHEEIEER
REMBARBE - RIZ—N\F FEEBESE
=HBE=HEREER RZER TS
%aﬂEVW@@EWEmE%%%§MWE
(R FE 7 JR R UK B B 0 s TR I (E 7R B 8%

%%WDWD%%EW¥%@LEOWE$@
HERARE HEFEEEAR ZIRHEEE
MERBEE BREBTMEREAT AR
EEHEFRRINERIEEREZRITHE
FETHI S TE I (ER - AN E B EREZ R
KRR BMEEENER BEERAT &M
EER -2 —FRISZTEHWIA TR
BEHRHITAI BIBERENBITEEXHHREN
EHEEERBITENA) K E#iT AL (B
ATBIT AV ERXHFRENEF M AR
TLBITHN)  UREEEERIBERE B

[ 587 W [B11E E 1R 25 E’J—J“t‘liﬁ’*ﬂl:&f’lﬂ:’
B —F+ )ﬂ +—H - EEEER
18,894,000 7t B2 2R & ©

BE_T__HF+-_A=+—HLEE"

2 YURE458518,894,000/8 0> HRRHEF
B3 iz E A K #39,000,0007T (HHE K
44,136,000/ 7T) » M I 6% K EIRIE E 103
BoWENBRFSHNRETURED -BE_F
TME+ZRB=+—HILEE TEKRIE—
PEBIBERER > AL ER R ERERFE
fiio
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

nV-F

B MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continueq)

Note: (continued)

(0)

Included in other receivables and deposits is a balance
of HK$87,384,000 (2023: HK$90,326,000) due from an
entity which is independent to the Group (“the Debtor”).
The Directors considered the credit risk exposure for
this balance is limited taking into account an amount of
HK$111,003,000 (2023: HK$104,243,000) due to an entity
controlled by the controlling shareholder of the Debtor
included in the Group’s other loans as at 31 December
2024 and 2028.

Prepayments to film directors represent payments made
to film directors for their work in the preparation of fims
development proposal and costs to be incurred by them in
the course of work. These prepayments will be exchanged
for the Group’s investment in the films to be produced by
the film directors upon the commencement of production
of the film, which the Group has the first right of refusal
to invest in. In case the Group decided not to invest, the
Group will be reimbursed out of the film production costs
contributed by financiers of the project.

Prepayments for investment in films, television programs
and program rights represent prepayments made for films
or television programs of which pre-filming preparation
has begun but production work has not yet started. When
the films or television program production work begins
and the interest of the Group’s investment in the project
is established, these prepayments will be classified as
investment in films, television programs and program rights.

Films and television programs prepayments which are
expected to be realised within one year, or over one
year but within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are
classified as current assets. Films and television programs
prepayments which are expected to be realised beyond
the Group’s normal operating cycle which generally has
the characteristic that the production date of new films
or television programs is uncertain are classified as non
current.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continueq)

Note: (continued)

()

(continued)

When the Group decides to invest in a film to be produced
with the Group’s prepayments to the film director, the Group
has to provide further funds required for production on its
own or with other investors. A distribution agreement will
be entered into at a later stage between the distributor, the
producer and the investor(s) which sets out the recoupment
corridor for the allocation of the Gross Receipts (box office
receipts, sale of DVD, online sales, pay and “free” TV, etc.)
of the film. For illustrative purpose, a typical recoupment
corridor is in the following order:

1. Distribution fees (income earned by the distributor)
2. Distribution expenses (out-of-pocket expenses)
3. Film investment costs/advances made by the

distributor to the investor(s)
Investors’ profit

Bonus/fee for the film director
Other financiers and parties

N o ook

Further percentage of sharing by the parties

The order and percentage of the recoupment corridor varies
from films to films, which depends on circumstances and
bargaining power of the various parties.

The Directors have undergone a detailed review of
recoverability of the Group’s fims and television programs
prepayments taking into account the latest available
information. Where an indication of impairment exists, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated based on value
in use calculation. Based on information available to the
Directors when the consolidated financial statements are
prepared, an impairment provision of HK$134,177,000
(2023: HK$134,902,000) was made for films and television
programs prepayments due to the recoverability of which
through the recoupment corridor is doubtful and the
production date of new films or television programs is
uncertain.

17. j‘éﬁ%’xlﬁ ~ EL {th P& W 7 18 e H fth

(&

s (42

()

REBBARE —BRHEULERENLFER
BENMERFNEBER  AEEABTHHA
HREE R UREARNE—TES-
BB BAARRBEEREHBERTIIE
TiHE > BTN RBEWA EE KA
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ByEliiEiE - 2 (SR BA R & - BRAU RV O] Wim e
BLUTIER B

1. BTER GHTEPTRIAIEA)
2. BHTRAX (EVEAR

3. BITEORBEFHNEFRENL,
23R

4. KEERMN

5. BYERTTA&EH

6. HhEE AKRBREA

7. BEEENE-—SEOL

[EWEEMIEF KRB D EEERERME » BURR
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BEEREERMOUSENBHAEREY
BRE B AN RIEN A IR & TS -
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BEESEGEH REBERERASHMBERREE
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

17. FA(IFRIA « Hfth U R IR R H fth
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS BE®

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

(continueq)

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of

BNME HMBWREREMEEZ RE

prepayments, other receivables and other assets are as EIEEEEEIWT !
follows:
2024 2023
i o 11 3 =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FATT
At 1 January K—E—H 151,152 153,071
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) EREBERE (i5E6) - 7,044
Amounts written off as uncollectible o f A UK Bl 2 SR8 - (8,972)
Exchange realignments PE A (725) 9
At 31 December R+-_B=+—H 150,427 151,152
18. CONTRACT ASSETS 18. BHEE
2024 2023
—ENE - ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAET
Contract assets arising from: REUTEEBZEHNEE .
— Films and television programs —BERBERMBEETUR
released and film production RMEF R
services provided 92,423 101,380
Impairment A (84,727) (90,217)
Net carrying amount BREEE 7,696 11,163
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from films and television programs and film production
services. For films and television programs released, the
receipt of revenue is conditional on the confirmation from
film distributor or television producer taking into account
gross receipt from various income sources less distribution
and other costs. For film production services, the receipt
of revenue is conditional on the completion of performance
obligations specified in contracts. Upon release of films
or television programs and receipt of statement of net
receipt, the amounts recognised in contract assets from
films and television programs are reclassified to trade
receivables. Upon completion of film production services
and acceptance by the film producer, the amounts
recognised in contract assets from film production services
are reclassified to trade receivables.

As at 31 December 2024, HK$84,727,000 (2023:
HK$90,217,000) was recognised as an allowance
for expected credit losses on contract assets. The
Group’s trading terms and credit policy with customers
are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement of contract
assets as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

18. BIEE »

BREEVNIIBEREROBUARETH
ERFB 2 WD ETHEDB - HREETHNER

BERAE WARRIBREITHRER
RRAKEEZEBEWRARBRHERA B EET
R E A AR 2 BESR M A © ¥ 1 B & R AF AR
B WABRRREZES TR ENREENEL
EE-REFABHEMECEETEREZF
WABREXRR REXRBREODEGNEERE
RBZERERDEREZBBRE-NEF
REBRFECTHLCEBEZRA AZMRE
ARBERERGENEEZESREND
BREZRGRIE.

RIE_NE+_B=1+—HBIEHNEE
FER= B8 HE84,727,0008 T (& - =
£ 190,217,000 7T) - AEFHREZLANE S
BRREERREREN G BERERWE
160

REBEHRZENEEREISE S FEHRRE
mE:

2024 2023
—E-_NE T ES T o
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FEBT
Within one year —FRN 7,696 11,163
HEHEEEERAT —TTNEEFR
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

18.

BNEE w
AMEERENERREEETT

2024 2023

—E_ME —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
At 1 January n—B—H 90,217 89,510
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEIRF%E (sE6) (3,552) 2,337
Exchange realignments BE 2 FH R (1,938) (1,630)
84,727 90,217

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses on the contract
assets are referenced to the credit ratings of comparable
companies with published credit ratings and the forward
looking factors to reflect the effect of the external
economic environment. The provision rates for contract
assets are based on the geographical region and customer
type of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using the
probability of default approach:

REe@ERSEBHROSETREI N KAE
MR LS BRAEEER ARG ESH
EERACEBRENEBRHIZSEEAMIE
AR P B LB A B 25 AT AR U R & iR
SNERASEIRIE R BRI MR REE - 54
EEMNBGEXDREAFHELUBEELNA
EERDENMEBEEREFALETE &
SAERMAAETMEER ERFHEER
REBESEHRISNAERBESE BRIl
RARREERRTBANSER I FEER -

TREIERAEOBR ZDTNEREEHR
GNEEZFERRZER !

2024 2023

—F-mEF . ——
Expected credit loss rate JEHAE EEEX 92% 89%
Gross amount (HK$’000) WE (FA7T) 92,423 101,380
Expected credit losses (HK$ 000) FERAEEEE (T8 84,727 90,217

The following factors contributed to the decrease in the
impairment loss recognised during the year:

- Decrease in the lifetime ECL of approximately
HK$3,552,000 for contract assets due to the
settlement of contract assets; and

- Decrease in forward-looking adjustment factor
resulted from change of current market conditions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

19. INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION 19. B& - BB RETBIRERS
PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM
RIGHTS

Movements in investment in films, television programs and B BRMNMEKREBEREREZESHNT -
program rights are as follows:

Theatrical
films
ERER
HK$’000
FAERT
Cost: A .
At 1 January 2024 RZE-WE—/F—H 615,272
Exchange realignments bE A EE (3,238)
At 31 December 2024 R_F_MNF+_B=+—H 612,034
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: EHREREE
At 1 January 2024 R_E-MF—F—H 603,557
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FAFHR 2 #H (5E6) -
Impairment loss provided for the year (note 6) FAEHR ZRERE (i5E6) -
Exchange realignments PE oA 2 (3,176)
At 31 December 2024 RZB_NWE+"H=1+—H 600,381
Net carrying amount EREFE
At 31 December 2024 RN_E-_OFEF+"HF=+—H 11,653
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19. INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

10. EX - BEHHAB KB RERE

PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM (&
RIGHTS (continued)
Movements in investment in films, television programs and BEX BRMNEKEBEREREZESHNT .

program rights are as follows:

Theatrical
films
IR ER
HK$’000
FATT
Cost: s :
At 1 January 2023 N _E_=F—HF—H 615,421
Exchange realignments FE R (149)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE_=F+"F=+—H 615,272
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: ReHBHEBRE
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—HF—H 537,749
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FANFHE#E (5E6) 65,234
Impairment loss provided for the year (note 6) FREHRZBEREE (MEk6) 896
Exchange realignments e AR (322)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+"FB=+—H 603,557
Net carrying amount BREFE
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+"A=+—H 11,715
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

19. INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION

B -ENRHBERMBRRERE

PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM (&
RIGHTS (continued)
The status of the investment in films, television programs BEx BRMNEKEBERERENRENT !
and program rights is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-MmE —EST =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
bz FET TET
Non-current JETED
Theatrical film TRER
Released, net of accumulated BT {0k R st 5
amortisation (@) 11,653 MRS
Current wE
Theatrical films ThRER
Released, net of accumulated BT IR E#IHE &
amortisation and impairment DEALE! - -
Total Am st 11,653 11,718
Note: B 5E

(a) The non-current investment in a film is not classified as
current asset because the full recoupment of this asset is
estimated to be taken place beyond the Group’s normal
operating cycle.

The Group reviews its investment in films, television
programs and program rights regularly to assess if there
is any indicator of impairment and the related recoverable
amount with reference to the marketability of each film and
television program, and current market conditions. The
recoverable amount of the investment in films, television
programs and program rights was determined on a title-
by-title basis.

@ BENFERDRETEDESRPEE BB
ZHREENTHWEE RN AEBRNER
EEBSNEE-

FEEZ2EGRETRERHBE ZBHE MR
EMHERRERBRISEER BEMER
BB RERSE U EE S FEE /R ED
KR ROEEE - BF - ERHE REHE
HR I ERY AT UR[B] SRR U F B A B R EE IE ©
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RAT5ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

19.

20.

INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION 19. B - BB RETBERERE
PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM (#)
RIGHTS (continueq)
The recoverable amount of the above investments was LG E R W [CIZEETS ﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁﬁfé?rﬁ (B
determined based on value in use calculation which uses RAREBENIERER20.9% (ZEZ=F:
the present value of the expected future cash flows arising 19.50%) WITIREMHERPRRIRERES
from the pre-determined share of proceeds of the fim HBEH E-E%:Fﬁ%#lézfﬁf‘ﬁ#mﬁﬁﬁz%ﬁ
which was derived from discounting the projected future HARKIBERERE) MET -BE —m
cash flows using the discount rates of 20.9% (2023: F+ZRA=1+—HILFE BAR¥ ﬁﬁié%ﬁb
19.50%) based on the different status of the films. During HiEBEbWEE WD FEH > AR ER
the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment provision W ERES BT (TE T =5 896,000/%
of HK$NIl (2023: HK$896,000) was recognised in profit or 7o) °©
loss for theatrical films due to the recoverability of which
through the recoupment corridor is doubtful.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 0. BZEE
Movements in intangible assets are as follows: BELEEZBUWT !
Copyrights
of contents
A BhRIE
HK$’000
TAT
Cost: A .
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and i‘: T_-F—H—H->
1 January 2024 —BE=F+"“HA=+—BX
“ENE—HF—H -
Additions i 20,858
Disposals HE (15,983)
Exchange alignments PE oA 2 (104)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZWFE+"A=+—H 4,771
Accumulated depreciation: EiHirE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and i\: T_=F—H—H-
1 January 2024 B =F+HA=+—HEK
“EWHE—HF—H -
Charge for the year (note 6) FRZ L (MEE6) 1,414
Disposals HE (62)
Exchange alignments FER AR (29)
At 31 December 2024 RIEZNFE+_"A=+—H 1,328
Net carrying amount IRERE
At 31 December 2024 RN_EB_MFE+_"A=+—H 3,448

At 31 December 2023

R-B_=%+"R=+—H
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 20. BILEE @

Impairment review on the copyrights of certain contents BHE_Z_NFE+"BA=+—H EEEDE
had been conducted by the management as of 31 RSB ETEAEI6R EEREIHET
December 2024 according to HKAS 36 “Impairment of NARREETRERN HE_ZSIHF
assets”. As of 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount +ZB=+—H  RENTWEELETRIE
of the copyrights is determined based on the value-in- FTREEEEE - #HE_Z_MWF+A
use calculations. As of 31 December 2024, no impairment =+—H UERREELREEREE - B#EZ
provision is made for copyrights. Sensitivity analysis had N+ ZR=+—H BEEBTETT
also been performed by management as of 31 December B E DT B A A WE BN G EE R
2024 and the estimated changes in the recoverable Ko

amount was considered to be immaterial.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. RERAEEEHIER
2024 2023
—E-MmE R ST
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET TAET
Cash and bank balances R& R IRITARR

— Denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) —UARKEEE 538 97
— Denominated in Canadian (“CA$”) —rcEtHE 56 69

— Denominated in Hong Kong dollar —LUBTTEHE
("HK$”) 286 8,059

— Denominated in United States dollar ~ —I{3E TEHE
(‘US$”) 37,946 43,778
Cash and cash equivalents HBERIASEEER 38,826 52,003
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE
22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22, HthfE(JTRIa R E+ & B
2024 2023
—E-MmE =B =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAET
Advances due to third parties EE =R 55,750 60,696
VAT payable and tax penalties FEIBER R IR FE S 41,873 36,288
Amount due to a director (note 31) B —SREEFIA (F:E31) - 104
Accrued expense FEsth X 5,348 7,168
Total wast 102,971 104,256

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be
settled or recognised as income within one year or are
repayable on demand.

23.

FREHMENRIBERESERBES R —F
NGB ER DAL EREE -

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. §¥9&1E
2024 2023
—E-ME —E:=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Short-term advances received from WEz & P IS HR®ARR -
customers:
— Sale of film investments and rendering —HEZBFEE K
of related services IRHAERARRTS 37,275 36,581

Contract liabilities mainly represent advance billings to
the customers for films. In general, the Group receives
certain percentage of the contract sum when enter the
agreements depends on the negotiation with individual
customers. These deposits are recognised as contract
liabilities until the products or services are transferred or
rendered.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024 that was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year is nil (2023: HK$27,018,000).There
was no revenue recognised in the current year that related
to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior
year. As at 31 December 2024, all contract liabilities are
expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. itEfiSREZIZEEH
AND FILM INVESTMENT LOANS

The effective interest rates and maturities of the borrowings BEREFKREERNERFERIPRER
and film investment loans are as follows: wr
2024 2023
—ECME “BCCE
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$'000 interest rate Maturity HK$'000
BRAHE Bk TAT LRk 25 TET
Current EnE
Borrowings - unsecured fEE—EEHF (hotes a, ¢) 3%-8% 2022-2024 208,240 3%-8% 2022-2024 235,728
(M c) ZECCEE ZBIIEE
—E-mE “EINE
Film investment loans ~ BFKREE (notes b, ¢) 3%-8% 2019-2023 212,389 3%-8% 2019-2023 205,968
(ffztb~c) “E-hE ZZ-h%
ZgZ= 3 &

Total e 420,629 441,696

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings and FEREEREFREERNRESEUTS

film investment loans are denominated in the following E¥sE -

currencies:

2024 2023
—EME —EE =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAETT

HK$ BT 60,341 70,099

Us$ =TT 360,288 371,597

Total wast 420,629 441,696

Analysed into: DR

— Within one year or repayable on ——FAFRFZERERER

demand 420,629 441,696

Note: Mok -

(@ At 31 December 2024, interest-bearing borrowings @ RZE_OE+_A=+—H 8D
amounted to HK$192,703,000 (2023: HK$77,538,000) 192,703,000/ 7 (ZF Z =4 : 77,538,000
bearing interest at a fixed rate of 8% (2023: 8%) per BrT) REEFHNES% (ZE =4 :8%) 5t
annum are matured and other borrowings amounted to ENstREERIH Uk£%415,637,000
HK$15,537,000 with no interest and no maturity date BLATENEMEEREIAR CE2E2=
(2023: HK$158,190,000 bearing interest at fixed rates £ 158,190, OOO%E&IE?—F%' 3% ZE8%5t
ranging from 3% to 8% per annum will be matured in B R 22 ZMEHHR) o
2024).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

nV-F

B MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
AND FILM INVESTMENT LOANS

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(0)

Film investment loans represented loans from film financiers
which bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 8%
(2023: 6% to 8%) per annum. The repayment dates are
subject to the release dates of fims.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group defaulted on
repayment of certain interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans (including those classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative financial liabilities) with principal amounts of
HK$611,286,000 (2023: HK$500,521,000), and have a
further interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities) with principal amounts of HK$35,424,000 (2023:
HK$174,623,000) which were repayable within one year.

The Group has been actively negotiating with all of the
lenders for renewal and extension for repayments of the
overdue borrowings to reduce the liquidity pressure of the
Group.

Film investment loans with principal amounts of
HK$212,389,000 (2023: HK$205,968,000) bear variable
interest rates depending on the royalties generated from
the films, which are derivative components and should be
separated from the film investment loans and measured at
fair value.

The summary of movements in the derivative financial
liabilities is as follows:

Derivative financial liabilities

stREERERREER @

BisE : (48)

() BERESTIEKBBETMBEFINER ZE
EFHEE%ES% (CE-=F : 6%E8%) &f
BoEMBHARRNEL LB

© WIZEZEE+ZBA=+—8> $:-%lfk
BB RS A611,286,0008 T (CB =4
500,521,000 7w) WETHEBEREY
REER (BEDEARAFTESABRN
THEERTEEREERE) BEELAEA
35,424, oooﬁén (ZEZ =4 : 174,623,000
TN EEBEREXREENR (BESES
BATESABGENSHEERTESRE
&) B —EREERE-

FEER-EEBEMARBEAREERILER
HEAREEETESUNEEAEBNRS

BEREEHASL212,389,0008 T (Z=F
— =4 :205,968,0008 ) MEURN B EL
IREE FEBANEA B R EZATED K
BHEBEREETDRILRAFENE

TESRMaGEFMENT

TTEEMER

2024 2023
—EMEF —EZ=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TET

At 1 January —)2|—[8 36,984 13,808
Changes in fair value recognised in ﬁﬁ‘?E m IR A EES)

profit or loss (note 6) (FizE6) 3,836 23,176

Exchange realignments bE R EE R (188) =

At 31 December IRar— B =<8 40,632 36,984
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

25. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25. RATFEFARHNERMAR

2024 2023
—E-MmE T ]

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FATT

At 1 January ®—HB—H 196,464 185,250

Additions pepjl - 34,809

Repayments Big (36,365) (1,766)
Changes in fair value recognised in RIEHER A T EE

profit or loss (note 6) (F15E6) 26,377 (21,865)

Exchange realignment bl R SE 2 (1,027) 36

At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 185,449 196,464

The amounts are received under the co-investment
arrangements without share of copyrights are designated
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group had several co-investment agreements with
investors in film production projects, which entitled
the investors to receive variable income based on the
investor’s investment amount and expected rate of return
as specified in the respective co-investment agreements.
Investors have no control nor joint control over the
investments and without sharing of copyrights.

The Group measured, at initial recognition, the cost of
these amounts received based on the cash consideration
for these investments.

All these films had been released and the carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period represented the fair value
of these financial liabilities derived based on the estimated
net future cash flows from these fims attributable to the
investors. The repayment dates of these liabilities are
normally after 30 days every time the Company receives
cash receipts from distributors.

BEREZHTESGRENESWRIRIEE
BEBEAFESFABZNEMERE

BE_E_MER_E_="F+_"_A=+—
AEFE FAEBEKEENBERIFERE
SAEETHARERR RESHEREW
BRERBEENRESHERARHERE
REEARERIJERD REEHREN
BTG RABSEN R BED(GRE-

AEBRVNTRIFREXFRENESA
Bt EZEEBWRIRRIAE -

ZEEXHYE LM RREARMNREETR
ZEEMEENATE ENRBEREERE
HREEEZHNEFARFECREFRR/R
ZEEENEMBREEREATSRKE
BLITHNRTWIR 0% -

BHHBEERARAT —F_NEFR
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ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL

26. fg#s

2024 2023

—E-NE ———

HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHETT
Authorised: ETE -
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 20,000,000,0008% & A& E {E0.10
HK$0.10 each Btz EBR 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
98,556,479 (2023: 8283,564,799) 98,556,479k (&=
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 823,564,799f%) & I TEI(EO.1
Bz BBk 9,856 82,356
A summary of the Company’s share capital is as follows: KRB RGABERA T -

Number of Nominal value
shares in issue of shares issued
e&TRIZEA e&TkRiyEE

HK$'000
FATT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R_ZE_=&—H—H-
=FE-=F5+="H=+—H 823,564,799 82,356
Issue of New Shares (Note a) BITHRG (Miska) 162,000,000 16,200
Capital Reduction (Note b) B&AS R (M 5ED) (887,008,320) (88,700)
At 31 December 2024 RIB2ZWNE+-A=+—H 98,556,479 9,856

Note:

(@) On 8 January 2024, a total of 162,000,000 Placing Shares (@)
have been successfully placed by the Placing Agent to not
less than six (6) Placees at the Placing Price of HK$0.165
per Placing Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Placing Agreement, representing approximately 16.44%
of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by

Mk :

the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares immediately

upon completion of the Placing.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL (continueq)

Note: (continued)

(b) On 23 July 2024, reduction of the par value of each
issued Consolidated Share from HK$1.00 to HK$0.10 by
(@) eliminating any fraction of a Consolidated Share in the
issued share capital of the Company arising from the Share
Consolidation in order to round down the total number
of the Consolidated Shares to a whole number; and (b)
cancelling HK$0.90 of the paid-up capital of the Company
on each issued Consolidated Share so that each issued
New Share will be treated as one (1) fully paid-up share of
par value of HK$0.10 in the share capital of the Company
immediately following the Capital Reduction, and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction will be transferred to the
contributed surplus account of the Company.

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company on 1 June
2012, an ordinary resolution to propose a share option
scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”) was passed.
The 2012 Share Option Scheme was thus approved
and adopted at the general meeting and subsequent
approval was granted by the Stock Exchange. The
2012 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10
years commencing from the adoption date (i.e., 1 June
2012). The number of shares, which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme and other schemes adopted
by the Group, is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and
other schemes adopted by the Group in aggregate is not
permitted to exceed 10 % of the shares of the Company in
issue at the adoption date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual
is not permitted to exceed (i) 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue, and (i) HK$5,000,000 in aggregate
value based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in any 12-month period unless such grant
is approved by independent shareholders at a general
meeting.

26. g7 =)
Wizt . (&)

) MIBNELtAZ+=H BERERTE
HERDBIEEH1.0058 TR/ E0108 T
NAQZIFRERDEHPEELRAT S ET
BRARNEMBHES HFRD  UER S HRS
BEEATEEERBAEY ; ROFHEA
BIEREETE RN NEERA0.908 7T
FEEREBTHROBHEELNEMERAH
RB AT A —(1)IREEO.1058 T B
&A% > T BRI B 24 MU 6k T 72 A Y #E BR SR BB 8
ERNTBHEBERIR

27. fsRetEsTEI

AEARR_E-—_FXRA—BETZRR
BEREG L BR—EERESE (22—
FRRESE ) 2 EEREREEEB-—F
——FERESEIFILNRRAG LB E
KR BB BB REH - — T ——
FHERESITSHEMBH B - —ZFX
A—RH) Bt +ERNAERKRER - TEERET
T-_FRERESEIRATERRMZ KA
BIRBZFIARRTEBREMAIEETZ
BROBE TRBEEANRKEAEALQT B HET
R Z30% - BIFE_F—_FHEKRESE K
FEBRMZEMEASPIERHZBREZ
ERRNBEEHITBERMNARAERRT
BETRMNZ10%  RER+ @S [ 7
FEREMALTRHZ EBREZABRMNBHK
FRBBHFELRBEHITRN 20.1% » K(i)iR
BREEHEBRRNZWUHESEZBER
5,000,000 7t > FRIF A B R H B L IR R
R ARG EHER S 1R o
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

A consideration of HK$1 is payable by the grantee on
the acceptance of options granted. An option may be
exercised from the date of acceptance of the offer of such
option to the earlier of the date on which such option
lapses and 10 years from the offer date of that option.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the date of the grant of the options, and the average of
the closing prices of the shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the options.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
(“New Share Option Scheme”) subsequent to the expiry
of 2012 Share Option Scheme on 31 May 2022. The New
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years
commencing from the adoption date (i.e., 3 August 2022).
The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options is not permitted to exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme in aggregate is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the adoption date.
The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual is not permitted to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue in any 12-month
period unless such grant is approved by independent
shareholders at a general meeting.

No options have been granted under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme nor the New Share Option Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and in prior years.
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ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

27. FBBg TR @

EEANEMERZBEREFAINRENE
ToBRENBEMZEREZNERHES
ZBEREAM B REREZNRHE R+
FEA URFEER®SE) LABTE-TEER
ARABDEFEE URABNEBRERHB
HRMIEBMIAZWHE hEEBRER
THPAMAERXZARN Z FHRHEZR
SR

R_BE__FERB=+—H Z&2—_F8
R EIEmE > AR RM— BB
e (TR ESTE) - B RESTEITL A
RHBEB B —_E2__4 N \B=RH) EBst+£
NBERREMR -THEREHARTEBREM
AEZETZROHE T EBRETARKEA
NEBEITRM 230% - IRIEFEE IR ESH BT
ERHBREZERARMDEHESERFE
BIRAHEBARRBEETIRM 210% o FREMA
+ZEBHE JEREMATRE ZEBR
B ERRDEHABTBBERABTDEETR
MZ21% BRIFEAREEBILIRENRRKREX
g EHERISBIER o

RBEE_T_NE+_-_A=+—HLEFEXK
BEEE BERBE_ZS—_FERESS
A EBRES B RN EERE



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

28. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly-foreign-owned companies, certain entitles within
the Group are required to allocate a certain portion (not
less than 10%), as determined by their boards of directors,
of their profit after tax in accordance with the general
accepted accounting principles in the PRC to the statutory
reserve fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital.

The SRF is non-distributable other than in the event of
liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out
in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset
accumulated losses or be capitalised as issued capital.

In accordance with the relevant regulations and the
articles of association, a subsidiary registered in the
PRC as a domestic company is required to appropriate
10% of its net profit (after offsetting accumulated losses
from prior years) to the statutory surplus reserve. After
the balance of such reserve reaches 50% of the entity’s
capital, any further appropriation is at the discretion of the
Company. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital. However,
the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be
maintained at a minimum 25% of the capital after such
usages.

28. (#f&

AEERAFERBECEZHEREDS
BIFR L REEBR-

ab B it
AEE RO ERIEFRIBRABHABS
S

AEEE

b e bl NS NSRS R
AEERTHETERAREESEATRT
QB R D E R R B E T 8
B (RLR10%) EREMES (DEEHRE
%)) BEREEEEMERN50%HLE

ZERBEATADIK HHRFRBERK
RIFAE R P EDERFT8E T RS A R FIE
R BEERBREARBETRERN -

RBAERRERREBEZMEB > £ B
BABEAB I E R E AL H AR BI10%
(EEEBEFEN R BIRR) EAERRK
HE - NZREENEREEZBRELRS0%
%> ARBRABIRBEFHERE - B E
ERFEFETAFRERFBENIBEE AR
m> REH LA RE » A EBERFEBAIE
BRBMER N A DR EARB25%
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _Z _MFE+_HB=+—

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

HiEEE

20. FEBRERERME

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a EFEIFREXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the BE_ S _=—F+_"_F=+—HL=HE
Group entered into new lease arrangements in B AEEMBAEETLUMEEZR
respect of office premises at the inception of the B R ERBIMNTEE4 1,802,000
leases of approximately HK$1,802,000. BT
During the year ended 31 December 2024, amounts HE_ZT N+ "B=+—HLHF
of approximately HK$779,000 and HK$1,006,000 B rAREAMKLERY EREEERE
has been reduced from the carrying amounts of EaBREEDRRLDAT779,0008 T
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities respectively in J21,006,00078 7T °
respect of early termination of lease.
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEEFFREENAREE
financing activities
2024 —T-lE
Interest-
bearing Financial
borrowings liabilities
and film Derivative at fair value
investment financial through Lease
loans liabilities profit or loss liabilities
HEEER BATERA
EEREEN fTESMAE BIENIHERE HEaE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2024 RIEZME—F—H 441,696 36,984 196,464 1,657
Changes from financing cash flows EBIEHRLHEL (39,783) - (36,365) (682)
Non-cash waiver of interest payable FETFEMIEREESE (6,249) - - -
Non-cash waiver of lease obligation TAEZBNIEREEHE - - - (1,006)
New leases entered ¥eIHE = - - -
Interest expenses FIEHEY 26,713 - - 31
Fair value changes in financial BATESABRNEHEE
liabilities at fair value through NTEEE
profit or loss - 3,836 26,377 -
Exchange realignments ERAE (1,748) (188) (1,027) -
At 31 December 2024 RIZEZME+-B=+—H 420,629 40,632 185,449 -
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in MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 20. ZAERERERMFE @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (continuea)

b) MEXBFRELENGEEH

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities (continuea) #)
2023 g =
Interest-
bearing Financial
borrowings liabilities
and film Derivative at fair value
investment financial through Lease
loans liabilities profit or loss liabilities
HEEER BATERA
BERVREER TEERMEE BmNemaE HE&RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER FTET FTET
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—F—H 469,109 13,808 185,250 1,840
Changes from financing cash flows BER& RS (49,321) - 33,043 (2,074)
New leases entered EIHE - - - 1,802
Interest expenses FSEX 22,033 = = 89
Fair value changes in financial BATEHABGNEREE
liabilities at fair value through NTEEE
profit or loss - 23,176 (21,865) -
Exchange realignments ERAE (125) - 36 -
At 31 December 2023 WoB-=£+-A=+-A 441,696 36,984 196,464 1657
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

30. COMMITMENTS

(@)

The Group had the following contractual
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

30. K

(@) MB|EHFR ZEBBLUTEARE

2024 2023
—EE —E:=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Film investments BEEKE 151,510 151,888

The Group has no lease contract that has not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Other than the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group
did not have any material transactions with related
parties during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023. Outstanding balances with related parties
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are disclosed
below.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)  Amount due to a director

by RZE_WMER_ZT_=F+7_A
=t+—B > AEEUENRBAENEES

A
S48 0

31. BB XS

(@ PEE-Z-WMER-TE-=—F+°8
S+—HIEFEE BRZEREVBERE
HMEBH s 2 X550 RE L E
ERERH A ZEARZ K IE N
ER-_E_ZF+_RB=1+—HHEE
B ZAREBERIEEN T

SRR 2 REBAEER

() Bff—L2EFHE

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Amount due to a director -  FEff—REEHIE—
Mr. Luo Lei (note 22) EELE (H5E22) - 104

The amount due to a director is non-trade
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.

BN —REFERERFEZMEE
BIER RERREBRER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continueq)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:
(continueq)

(i) Amount due to a shareholder

(iff)

31. B BE RS @

(b) e2mamAs > RERBER : (&

(i) B—BRRFE

2024 2023
—E-ME eI =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FAET
Amount due to FE — S BB FUIA
a shareholder 1,063 1,099

The amount due to a shareholder is non-trade
in nature, unsecured, interest-free and has no
fixed terms of repayment.

Film investment loan

BN —2RERERFEZEE
BRI REREBEEERMR -

(iii) BEREEMN

2024 2023
—ENE e )

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR TER
A shareholder — Jiangyin —SREIRBEIIRRAIE
Binjiang Technology KEBRAE (HIRAEI)

Venture Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“Jiangyin Binjiang”) 32,827 32,814

The film investment loan is trade in nature,
unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate
of 6% (2023: 6%) per annum and is overdue
as at 31 December 2024. As at the date
of this report, the Group is in the process
of renegotiating the terms of the loan with
Jiangyin Binjiang, which includes, among
others, to extend the maturity dates. The
interest and late payment penalties had been
accrued according to the provision of the
current loan agreement.

EFXREERABESME BT
RIEEEEHNEEw (ZE_=
6%)stREAR_E_ME+_H4
=t+—HE@BH - PRAREHE
NEBFEIREIENHEE
FEF U (A 8E) EREH
H-BRMERFMNEERIEIRA
BRI ENE TR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. Bt AR H @

(continueq)

(c) Compensation of key management () SEBEFEEEASH
personnel of the Group

The remuneration of the key management of the FRAEBFEZEEABHMNOT !
Group during the year was as follows:

2024 2023
—EMEF ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET
Short term employee benefits RHEERH 5,924 4,689
Pension scheme contributions RRETEHERR 54 15
Total compensation paid to key B EEEIEA E#BIiEEE
management personnel 5,978 4,704
The remuneration of directors and other members EERHEMFEEEERE 2 FHMNAE
of key management is determined by the Board EERBE|AXRBETBEBBET-
of Directors having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s BEREERTIETHRABHFMNZE—F
emoluments are included in note 8 to the EIE AN Y e e

consolidated financial statements.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as the end of the reporting period are as

32. BENBSHNEMTIR

RREPR EMTERBESENREET
T 2

follows:
2024 i o 11 3
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
FISHR A At E
ZEMEE
Financial assets EHEE HK$’000
FHET
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5T ATB{J & IE « EMEWFIER EMM&EEN
other receivables and other assets TREE 100,463
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIBSEEEE 38,826
Total 4BEt 139,289
Financial liabilities
designated as
fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss at amortised
initial recognition cost Total
AT
EEARATE
AT BT
MEMERE HEZEMAR @t
Financial liabilities ERaf HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Financial liabilities included in SARMEMTERESERN
other payables and accruals THEaR - 55,750 55,750
Interest-bearing borrowings and fim HEEERBEREEM
investment loans - 420,629 420,629
Derivative financial liabilities TEemaRr 40,632 - 40,632
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEFABGNEHEE
through profit or loss 185,449 - 185,449
Amount due to a shareholder e —2 R TIE - 1,063 1,063
Total 4t 226,081 477,442 703,523
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 32. A PHERMIT AR @

CATEGORY (continueq)

REREAR EMIAZEDENREEN
&

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (continued)

2023 —_EF—=
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
FREER AT 22
EREE
Financial assets TREE HK$’000
TET
Trade receivables 8 5 WIS 12,006
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5T ATB{ =B s EMEWFIER EM&EEN
other receivables and other assets SREE 105,767
Contract assets BHEE 11,163
Cash and cash equivalents B RIESHEIER 52,003
Total 4Bt 180,939
Financial liabilities
designated as Financial
fair value through liabilities at
profit or loss at amortised
initial recognition cost Total
NIl
BEAREATE
StAEG R AR A
NEMEeE HEZE/MEE HEt
Financial liabilities Eadeiy=l= HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAET TAET
Financial liabilities included in stARMBEARIEREERN
other payables and accruals TRaRE - 60,800 60,800
Interest-bearing borrowings and SIEEERERREER
film investment loans - 441,696 441,696
Derivative financial liabilities TEEHas 36,984 - 36,984
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEFABGRNCRERE
through profit or loss 196,464 - 196,464
Amount due to a shareholder Pt —RERFIA - 1,099 1,099
Lease liabilities HEAE - 1,657 1,657
Total AT 233,448 505,252 738,700
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, contract assets, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans, amount due to a shareholder and
lease liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the derivative financial liabilities and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
is assessed by an independent valuer based on the
discounted cash flows model under income-based
approach.

33. %ﬁmlﬁﬂ'ﬂ’aiﬁﬁ&'&iﬁﬁl@

EEECTLRARERREFERE &
WEE BZRBWRIEsTATRNRIE Hith
BBREBERAEMEENEREE 5t AHM
BNRERESAERNERER FEEE
RBXREEM BN —2REREKREE
BEZAVEREREERSE  TEMENZ
ZETEHRIEHARNEIE

FEERMBEERENYHHETHES
MIARFEAENERERERF MHEE
EROMHEREREZZETER NER
SHE UBERONEMIEEBENEHE
o MEEGEMBNEEZH AR GER
MHEREERTHE HEBERERBE
REEESFETMRA R > UFERHKRE
E R FFERR

TREBRZATERZIANBRES 50
X7 CFRBRBFENLE) POIRBR TR
IR St AT ERRBUTHERRR !

METMEBEREATEFABENEHE
B AFEDHBILTEEMRERAZTH
MMIRIREREBREE TG

BHHBEERARAT —F_NEFR

173



174

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

3. EMITANAFERATFEE

33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is the summary of the valuation techniques used
and significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity

analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

R )

TEBUAR —_E_ONER_E-_=F+_H
—t+t—HEMIAGEEMER 2 HERMTK
BAATERHABEUREEBRHED o

Significant
Valuation  unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
techniques input Range to the input
EXFTHE
ft Bl BARE e AT EHEARISHREE
Derivative financial liabilities Income-based Estimated 2024: HK$18,145,000 to 5% (2023: 5%) increase/decrease
approach revenue from HK$312,493,000 in estimated revenue would result
films (2023: HK$18,328,000 to in increase/decrease in fair value by
HK$304,063,000) HK$2,365,000/HK$2,196,000 (2023:
HK$1,738,000/HK$1,655,000)
TEemaR LN RBE¥RZ Z—ZIUE :18,145,000% st ERIE M,/ R 5%
Btz TE312,493,00078 7 (CEZ=F:5%) 28 TFE
(ZEZ=%:18,328,000% 11,/ #2,365,0008 7T,/
T 304,063,000 7T) 2,196,000/ 7
(ZEZ=F 11,738,000 7T
/1,655,000 7T)
Financial liabilities at fair value Income-based Estimated 2024:HK$70,868,000 to 5% (2023: 5%) increase/decrease
through profit or loss approach revenue from HK$312,493,000 in estimated revenue would result
films (2023: HK$63,932,000 to in increase/decrease in fair value by
HK$304,063,000) HK$9,462,000/HK$9,012,000 (2023:
HK$9,307,000/HK$8,864,000)
BATEHABGNEHEE LN ®EgARz —ZIME 70,868,000 BetiaIg R 5%
Btz TE312,493,00078 7 (C2Z=F 1 5%) 8B ATE
(ZB=%:63,932,000% 180,/ 3870°9,462,0008 7T,/
T E304,063,00077T) 9,012,000 7T
(CBZ=% 9,307,000 7T
/8,864,000 77)
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL R =
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

DT EER

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities measured at fair value: BATEFEZEE:

At 31 December 2024

WZE-mE+=-“A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUTREMEZATE"E

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable

3. EMITANAFERATFEE

TRIITAERERTIBEZ AT EFEER:

markets inputs inputs Total
&R EXARE EXTUHRE
HiakE BARE BABE it
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—4) (BE=) (B=4)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Derivative financial liabilities mEemas - - 40,632 40,632
Financial liabilities at fair value through BATESABRNERER
profit or loss - - 185,449 185,449
Total st - - 226,081 226,081

BERKEBRRART —ET_NFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z _ZE _ &+ _"H=+—H

33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continuea)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

At 31 December 2023

LEE

33. %EEIEE'\J’REFE&’REF{EE
N (&)

NEEELR @)
TRIATAERSRTAZ ATEINBER:

W_BE_=F+"_B=+—H

Fair value measurement using

FRUTSEMEZ AT ERE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
REE  EBERUER BATITHREZR
miERE WARE AR st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—#R) EZ® (B=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FTAET
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmaR - - 36,984 36,984
Financial liabilities at fair value through ~ BATEFFABGZNEHERE
profit or loss = S 196,464 196,464
Total ft = - 233,448 233,448
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER F—REAF_HELAFEFZ2L
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no g B UT EETMEBESATEBEHE=ZAD
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (2023: BR(CEZ=F ) -

nil).

The information about the movements in fair value
measurements within level 3 during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in notes 24 and
25 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
amount due to a shareholder, interest-bearing borrowings
and film investment loans, derivative financial liabilities,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and contract
assets, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group are primarily exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans (note 24) and lease liabilities (note
14) and cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (note 21). The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. The management
monitors interest rate risk exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arises. The Group considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant because the current market interest rates are
relative stable.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
None (2023: None) of the Group’s sales were denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the
operating units making the sale.

34. M EAKEEBRREER

FEENTESMIECERN —BRER
B st EREERBRREEM - TEEHE
B RAFESARGNERERGUKRES
RETHFEEB - ZFETMIANTIEZEN
DRAEENKEEEES -AEEERSR
SHMETRMEERER NEHERBEHKE
ENEZREREREGNEE-

REFXEEERTIENTIZARA/MNEXE
AN RBEERRRABESRER B

FeENTAREESEARNEE B
BRI 3o

) 2R & B

AEEFE2HBEEENRFSEERER
REEM (5F24) REE&E (H5E14) 48
BB A FEMRE R T BIRITAER (W
21) HRANREEREN XER - AEE BRI
BmARENEER  EEEREMN RO
THRREBEREBHPERNXREAR &
EERD BRBRHBANEEHEE TR
IRITEREENREAENXRABRILEAEKR-

s L B

AERERRZERRER ZEABRDER
MEBEUNBEUZNEER LN EIETT
BEEMEL AEELE (CE2E_=F &) i
ERMUETHE ZKEEMURERRE SN
EMstE-
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. HERAMRBEEEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Foreign currency risk (continued) S R B ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TREINTMEEMBHETTEZER
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change T AEERRAIEE CREMUETTFENS
in the US$ exchange rates, with all other variables held TR HRREPARETEX GBS
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (arising from US$ B HRE-

denominated financial instruments).

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) in
in basis point loss before tax
IR R ESIE
EEsEm Gl ¥, GR)
HK$’000
FATT
2024 “EME
If the HK$ weakens against the US$ BB TRETEZE 100 3,714
If the HK$ strengthens against the US$ 7Bt R ETHHE (100) (3,714)
2023 TET=F
If the HK$ weakens against the US$ HWATRETERE 100 3,724
If the HK$ strengthens against the US$ 8B TR ETHE (100) (3,724)
Credit risk S8Rk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy FEBREHRLRIAEERTFNE=ZFAR
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers ZoAREBRBERTEMERAGERRZN
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit ERBETERBEER LI REBR S
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are BRE R E SR IR 4G BR ©

monitored on an ongoing basis.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. MFERAKEERERBER @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Credit risk (continued) EERRE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging = A [ i i O] R GF K P 12 e B2
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREINRTZBE=1T—"HHNEEEERKRE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, RAEEFEERRENRAGERRHO  E
which is mainly based on past due information unless other EERBFAAEN GRIFEEMESIHNE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and MM AHRLE NI EENER) URFERMEDN
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The EEDEFL -MEINSEAZEETHE
amounts presented are gross amounts for financial assets. EERVARE -
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+=“A=+—8H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B 1
fE885E 2HEREEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—REE SR B {EH & Feh
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTET FET FERT FET
Contract assets* BNEE - - - 92,423 92,423
Trade receivables* B R ElE - - - 96,152 96,152
Cash and cash equivalents REeRREEEER
- Not yet past due — IR 38,826 - - - 38,826
Financial assets included FFATEITIE 2t
in prepayments, other ERRIERHMEE
receivables and other assets ~ MSBIEE
- Normal** SE 100,463 - - - 100,463
Total fmst 139,289 - - 188,575 327,864
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. MEEAMREEBERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Credit risk (continued) EERRE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RABEMORFLTERER (#)
(continued)
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREBRIRTBE=1+T—HHNEEEERKRE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, RAEBEERENRAGEERRKO > E
which is mainly based on past due information unless other SENBTAREN GRIFEEMESINE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and PR ARE DA EENER) URFERMAEDN
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The EEDEFB -T2 NEEAZETME
amounts presented are gross amounts for financial assets. ERNEE (&
(continued)
At 31 December 2023 N_E-_=f+"F=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A ]
FEER 2BBREEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—PEE S PEER SRR BIEA % st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT TAT TAT TAT
Contract assets” BHNEE - - - 101,380 101,380
Trade receivables* B 5 IR - - - 111,500 111,500
Cash and cash equivalents RE&RBFEEEER
— Not yet past due —HREH 52,003 - - - 52,003
Financial assets included STATEFTIE Eft
in prepayments, other ERFIER HMEE
receivables and other assets ~ ME RIS E
~ Normal™* =TEg3# 105,767 - - - 105,767
Total fast 157,770 - - 212,880 370,650
* For trade receivables and contract assets at which the e HRNAEBRG BEERSLEHENE S ERK
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, HIERANEET S ER R R EE R IE A

information based on the provision matrix and probability
of default approach is disclosed in notes 16 and 18 to the

KEMBER DN GE M HFRRIE165%18

consolidated financial statements, respectively. FRIRER ©
= The credit quality of the financial assets included in & Bt ATENMNZEBE -HMWEKFTELEMNEE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is WemEEY L AESNERSES

conS|deredlto bel norma'l w'her'1 they are not pgst dge MEELSEDEEEEAREZ MM
and there is no information indicating that the financial

71\ s B|s% % B E V=88 WA T
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial BEAlRSeRAENERERRESE
!
recognition. e
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had concentration
of credit risk as most of the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets were due from a few customers, who are
mainly film distributors. 41% (2023: 38%) and 92% (2023:
87%) of the total balance of trade receivables and contract
assets were due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through interest-
bearing borrowings to meet its commitments over the
foreseeable future in accordance with its strategic plan.

34. BHEBRERBRREE @

EEEME ®

N TECME+ZA=+—H BERETEER
ABPEZBBRERGHNEERBEEIER
E%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ\%@ﬁ’ﬁﬁzﬂxﬁﬁ?ﬂ%g
BEPBER - AEBEZRERRIEREGHN
%“J%%E%E?QJQ%UM% (Cmtar Sk 5180 )
%92% (ZZZ=%F :187%) HEWBAXEH
RAERKRAEKRER -

MENE = A

AEEZHRATHERERN RBRRSHE
TER O BEREFAENRSFEHELURERE
gﬁ&%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ/)ll@]é% ZK°

FEBZHERDREALBBSE  ®RITTE
NRERFETFERENEEFEEEER
BRES UERRERKEBITHAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continuea)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

MENE R EM =

REBEGORMBEAR AEERKRSHRZ
TRERIBBERAOT :

34. BERREBEAEREE @

2024
“EomE
On demand
or less than 1to5
1 year years Total
BEKXN
DR—F —ERf L
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA7 FH7 FH7
Other payables HitpE g HIE 55,750 - 55,750
Interest-bearing borrowings and HERERBERREER
film investment loans 420,629 - 420,629
Derivative financial liabilities ThEEmar 40,937 - 40,937
Financial liabilities at fair value through AT EF ABZHNEMER
profit or loss 187,272 - 187,272
Amount due to a shareholder e —2 R EHIE 1,063 - 1,063
Total At 705,651 - 705,651
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continuea)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows: (continued)

34. BHEBRERBRREE @

REBEEEME @

REBEGORMBEAR AEERKRSHRZ
TRERIMBEROT : (&

2023
i
On demand
or less than 1t05
1 year years Total
DR—f —EhE ik
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Other payables HitE M HIE 60,800 - 60,800
Interest-bearing borrowings and HERERBERREER
film investment loans 444,325 - 444,325
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmasE 37 421 = 37,421
Financial liabilities at fair value through AT EF ABZHNEMER
profit or loss 197,555 = 197,555
Amount due to a shareholder E—2RRMIE 1,099 = 1,099
Lease liabilities HEak 1,269 462 1,731
Total st 742,469 462 742,931

Further information regarding the Group’s liquidity risk and
the actions taken and planned by the Directors is set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics or the underlying
assets. The Group made no change to its capital structure
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

BMAEERSESARRE SRR
BNEBNE— S ENRRESHBEREN
010

BREE
FEREFAEEZHZERARREAEREEA
BREKEZE BEFREBZEARLR
USFHHEHEBEFERRANERREE

NEEIRKELEIE R 2 S8 K& R RS E 518
HEEEEEEAEBIUEHARER HEC
S EKR_E_=F+_B=+—HIEHF
B REBNEXREEIBEEE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continuead)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing borrowings and film
investment loans, derivative financial liabilities, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, amount due
to a shareholder less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
includes equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:

34.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ina MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

HERBEEEAEREE @

BXREIE =

AEERBERBBLEX BMER P HERURL
REBEANERFE BEREX - EHFEE
B REEREEREER - TEERER
BAFTEFABRaNERHER BN -8R
RMERRERFEEEEER - BEASES
NEEEANEEED REREARNES
BELEXRNMT:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=
HK$’000 HIK$'000
F#R THER
Interest-bearing borrowings and FEEERETLEEER
film investment loans 420,629 441,696
Derivative financial liabilities mETHMas 40,632 36,984
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEFSAEENEMEE
through profit or loss 185,449 196,464
Amount due to a shareholder ERt—2 AR ERIE 1,063 1,099
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIREEEIER (38,826) (52,003)
Net debt 1B7%53 %8 608,947 624,240
Equity attributable to owners of the BABHB AELER
parent (382,018) (877,744)
Capital and net debt BRREFR FEE 226,929 246,496
Gearing ratio BEARBEL=E 268% 253%

Further information regarding the Group’s net liabilities and
the actions taken and planned by the Directors is set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
FE TR EHRERMIGE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & EZE - _MFE+_-_F=+—HIEFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35. AT MFF IR AT

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

ERRSHARETATDYHRRKRZERIN T

2024 2023
—E-ME — o
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB RERE 2 3
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 897
Prepayments, other receivables FEATFRIE ~ HfhFE YRR IE K
and other assets Hh&EE 28,982 29,135
Investment in subsidiaries RNB AT ZKE 10 10
Total non-current assets ERBEEHE 28,994 30,045
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, other receivables FERIE s EtERRIE R
and other assets Hh&EE 1 3,001
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIASEEER 22 46
Total current assets MEEEHE 23 3,047
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE R
Other payables and accruals HthE A RIE R ETE R 4,472 23,450
Contract liabilities BHEE 18,086 17,291
Interest-bearing borrowings and AEEERENREEN
film investment loans 28,736 SilF300
Amounts due to subsidiaries N EYNGIE | 54,036 44,525
Lease liabilities HEaE - 546
Total current liabilities mENE RAEEE 105,330 117,112
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mHAERE (105,307) (114,065)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS WEERTHAMG
CURRENT LIABILITIES (76,313) (84,020)
EHPEERERAE —EoNEEHR 1855
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35. X AT MBRAER @
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continueq)
2024 2023
—E-NE ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FAETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 448
Net liabilities BEFEE (76,313) (84,468)
EQUITY =
Share capital N 9,856 82,356
Reserves i (86,169) (166,824)
Total deficit BSah 4R %A (76,313) (84,468)
Jing Xufeng Sang Kanggiao
ShelE RES
Co-chairman Co-chairman
HEERE HEERE
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

35. ZABMBRRR @

(continueq)
Note: Mok -
A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows: NABIEEB RS -
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
REE BETEEFHE 2EHEBHE Ht
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AT FAET FHET FATT
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%—A—H 556,778 1,564 (682,227) (123,885)
Total comprehensive loss FREABBEEE
for the year - - (42,939) (42,939)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE=F+"A=+—H
1 January 2024 R-BE-NE—F—AH 556,778 1,564 (725,166) (166,824)
Total comprehensive loss FREABERE
for the year 98,964 - (18,309) 80,655
At 31 December 2024 RZE-OmNE+-BA=+—H 655,742 1,564 (743,475) (86,169)
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36. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT

LIABILITIES

Obligation to long service payments
(“LSP”) under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to employees in Hong
Kong under certain circumstances, subject to a minimum
of 5 years employment period, based on this formula: Last
monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3
X Years of service. Last monthly wages are capped at
HK$22,500 while the amount of long service payment shall
not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for
as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund contributions, plus/
minus any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the
“Eligible Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP
payable to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17
June 2022, which will eventually abolish the Offsetting
Arrangement. The Amendment Ordinance will come into
effect prospectively from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Eligible
Offset Amount after the Transition Date can only be applied
to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no
longer eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP
obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the
Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based
on the last monthly wages immediately preceding the
Transition Date.
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36. REAIRBERIR

EARAEBEMIRIRES (RER
mEl) HE

RIBEEBEFABESTE(REERRG)  AEEE
HETBERTEEEEEENEEZNV RN
R#%E HREREHREFN VDRSS RIRE S
AEARWT . (RiIEEREH RE—E@AL
BEX23XBBFH -RE—EBEILELR
%22,5008 0 MEAREENRSHES
390,000/ ZEXARIIEFREHEB R ER
FETE o

5 — AN B FEBBHCREME LB RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE _ZE _NF+_H=+—HIEFE

37. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

(@)

On 22 September 2022, a company incorporated
in the PRC has filed a writ of summons for a legal
proceedings against a subsidiary of the Group (the
“Subsidiary”) in relation to, inter alia, a claim for a
repayment of investment principal of US$804,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,247,000) and the
corresponding interests in respect of a co-investment
agreement for a movie titled “Midway” (the “Co-
Investment Agreement”).

On 10 January 2024, the Subsidiary received
a final court judgement mandating payment of
investment principal of US$804,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,247,000), along with corresponding interests
of US$316,000 (equivalent to HK$2,455,000).
Management considered that the relevant balances
(including the corresponding interests thereof)
recognised by the Group under the Co-Investment
Agreement as at 31 December 2024 is sufficient
and therefore the subsequent final court judgement
will not have a material impact to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

On 3 March 2023, a company incorporated in the
PRC has filed a Notice of Arbitration with Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre to commence
an arbitral proceedings against the Subsidiary and
the Company in relation to, inter alia, a claim for a
repayment of investment principal of US$3,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$23,306,000)
in respect of an alleged investment agreement
(the “Investment Agreement”) for a movie titled
“Malignant”.

On 16 September 2024, the two parties reached a
settlement agreement. The Group agreed to pay the
settlement amount in installments. Upon receiving
the notice of the arbitration termination order on 20
January 2025, the claims will not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

37. iF

RIEZ_HFHABZ+ZH > —MRiF
B 5% A% i B A B B | 4 & B — S Y B
NE (TZHB AR BHEM LK IR
A EFeA > LBRER(TRE )
e2REWRE ((HMERERHZE) IRHEP
R BERMEEREARE804,000% 7T (17
E12496,247,0007 7T) K AEFEF] A o

AZE_NE—F+ /) ZiB AR
HZERRBH R EXIHRELRS
804,000% 7t (1HE 116,247,000 70) &
FEFEF] %316,0005= 7t (FHE 122,455,000
BIT) cBIEERA AERER_Z Y
E+ A=+ —HEINHSRE RS
ETHEBEG (BEEEEMNR) BB
2 Eib BEARKRBHRTG H
REBMEEHHERRERNEATE-

RIE-=F=A=H>—BR+E:F
MM ABDEBETBEBRHEF O
RBRXHHBER HHEZHWB AT RERA
T}Etﬁﬁz& o (P8R ERE

TR RE)NIEEEERZE (MK
éhm)ktﬂﬁﬂ% P BREBERELRE
3,000,000 7T (H8 & 72 4923,306,00078
7o) ©

AZE_MEAB+/NB EHERM
RipZ - AEBRBRDHALITNRE-
RS- RF—HBA -+ HWEIHEL L
RIBNEB ZBRRRISELEEBLRS
B HRREEERTE

SYRKEEBRART —S_OFEER 1859



190

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

4= A
i 3

RAT5ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE _ T _NE+_FB=+—HILFE

37. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS (continued)

(c)

On 12 August 2024, a company incorporated in
PRC submitted an arbitration notice to the Shanghai
International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission, initiating arbitration proceedings
against the Company. The claim relates to the
a project investment agreement (the “Project
Investment Agreement”) for the film “Malignant”
and seeks repayment of the investment principal
of US$2,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,091,000) and corresponding interest
of US$1,481,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,506,000). As of the date of issuance
of these consolidated financial statements, the
arbitration tribunal is still in the course of conducting
the arbitration proceedings. Management
considered that the relevant balances (including the
corresponding interests thereof) recognized by the
Group under the Project Investment Agreement as
at 31 December 2024 is sufficient and therefore the
subsequent final court judgement will not have a
material impact to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

On 27 January 2025, a company incorporated in
the BVI has filed a Notice of Arbitration with Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre to commence
arbitration proceedings against a subsidiary of the
Company and the Company in relation to, inter
alia, a claim for a repayment of investment principal
of the US$473,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,675,000) in respect of an alleged investment
agreement (the “Alleged Investment Agreement”) for
a movie titled “Malignant”. Management considered
that the arbitration has not been heard at the date
of these consolidated financial statements and the
exposures from the claim will not have a material
impact to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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37. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS (continued)

(e)

On 13 August 2024, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands submitted a Statement of Claim to
the High Court of Hong Kong, commencing legal
proceedings against a subsidiary of the Company
and the Company. The claim relates to a film project
investment agreement (the “Film Project Investment
Agreement”) for the films “CRA 2”and “CRA 37,
seeking repayment of the investment principal
of US$1,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,760,000).

On 283 October 2024, the two parties reached a
settlement agreement. The Group agreed to repay
the investment amount in installments. The first
payment was made during the year. As a result, the
claims will not have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

On 4 September 2024, a company incorporated in
BVI submitted an arbitration notice to the Shanghai
International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission, initiating arbitration proceedings
against the Company. The claim relates to the
alleged new project investment agreement
(the“Alleged New Project Investment Agreement”)
for the film “Malignant” and seeks repayment of the
investment principal of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,768,000) and corresponding
interest of US$563,692 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,379,000). As of the date of issuance of these
consolidated financial statements, the arbitration
tribunal is still in the course of conducting the
arbitration proceedings. Management believes that
the risk faced by the Group as a result of the claim is
not significant.

38. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

i E)

) RTE_HMENB+=H'—BRHEE
EEAMMINATBERESF AR
REREEZ > HBARE—RNBAR K
RABIRE AR e ZBRW KA B
Ex(EeTs) R(BETHEIIHNEX
BE%EWS (B BEERE WS
EREZELEARE1,900,000E7T (HBE
R 4914,760,0003 7T) ©

37.

R_EBE_NE+RA_-_+=H &HEMN
NEtpE AEEREDHEERES
BHo-BHNREREARNZ(T AL > 5%
BRI EHAEENRSMHBRREM
BAFEo

H RIZE_EFEABRNHE:—REREBE
THEHEEMAILIMNATMG LiEEEL
EESHMEEZEQRIMHEN &t
KABIREEMEERF - ZBRW ME B
BE(BAHRHEYNFEBMERRE
ek (TFTIEMMBERERSEL) »  EX
BB EAR$1,000,000E 7T HEERD
7,768,00078 7t) M 1B EF) 5563,6923 7T
(HHE 7 494,379,000 7T) - B E A4
EMBRERTIE B MREDEETD
hEEF BEEBRA AEBAZH
RMABEN R FEAK -

38. LEREF
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B H e

BHHBEERARAT —F_NEFR

191



192

Financial Summary

MFFER

RESULTS

E S

For the year ended 31 December

H#E+_A=+—HiEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“BETRFE R4 EBE"F “ZT-=% IZE_NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTET FERT FTET FTET FERT
(Restated)
(iEE5)
Revenue (including continuing and W& (BEFER
discontinued operations) 1R 2K 47,761 199,403 60,247 80,336 40,369
Profit/(loss) before tax BiAER (B518) (150,623) (414,864) (131,739) (49,784) (26,051)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisit (=) /% (11,785) 15,550 (3,458) 3,910 (2,331)
Profit/(loss) for the year FE&F/ (551 (162,408) (399,314) (135,197) (45,874) (28,382)
- Attributable to owners of the parent —&AT#EHE AL (162,275) (399,264) (135,867) (45,720) (28,382)
- Attributable to non-controliing —JEEE R R (G
interests (133) (50) 670 (154) -
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
ECRE “ET-fF TITH ET-F ZEBENEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTET FET FTET FTET F#ERT
(Restated)
(1EE75)
Total assets BEE 1,018,457 731,625 566,722 476,533 442,762
Total liabilities meE (841,882) (920,660) (897,259) (854,783) (824,780)
176,575 (189,035) (330,537) (378,250) (382,018)
Equity iy
— Attributable to owners of the parent — AT B AL 202,548 (188,016) (330,184) (377,744) (382,018)
— Attributable to non-controlling — IR R EM
interests (25,973) (1,019) (353) (506) -
Total st 176,575 (189,035) (330,537) (378,250) (382,018)
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